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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than
other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks
of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China
United Venture Investment Limited (formerly known as GLORY
MARK HI-TECH (HOLDINGS) LIMITED) (the “Company’,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars
given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules’) for the purpose of giving information with regard
to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief, the information contained in this report is accurate
and complete in all material respects and not misleading
or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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To Our Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China
United Venture Investment Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the final results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025
for the Shareholders’ review.

The revenue from our electronics business and architectural
design business decreased by 20.9% from approximately
HK$208.6 million for 15-month ended 31 March 2024 to
approximately HK$164.9 million for the reporting period.
Despite complex global economic environment and
heightened geopolitical tensions, the Board managed to
keep the average monthly revenue of the reporting period be
consistent with prior year ended 31 March 2024.

During the reporting period, the volatile trade policies and
tariffs continually had significant impact on global supply
chains and good sales. The Group further focus on our
Vietnam manufacturing base, which has been deployed
since September 2023, to win back the demand from
customers who have gradually turned their orders to overseas
production. In addition, the Group planned to phase out the
accelerated computing business, which included a variety
of high-performance accelerated computing products and
accelerated computing product rental services, to avoid the
adverse impacts of the escalation of U.S. government export
control measures on high-performance Al chips to China. Our
electronics business recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$163.6 million, representing a decrease of 20.7% as
comparing to HK$206.4 million for 15-month ended 31 March
2024. The average monthly revenue of the reporting period
remained stable.
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Chairman’s Statement

FEHRES

During the reporting period, the prosperity of the PRC real
estate industry was still in a downward stage as the growth
rate of infrastructure investment slowed down, and the real
estate development investment as well as demand continued
to decline. Our architectural design business recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$1.3 million, representing a
decrease of 40.9% as comparing to HK$2.2 million for
15-month ended 31 March 2024.

To improve the performance in our electronics business,
the Group has implemented a series of in-house measures
to reduce costs and increase efficiency. For instance, our
manufacturing base in Ji'an, Jiangxi Province, has been
changed from the expected low-cost manufacturing center
to retaining only the production lines with higher automation
for wire materials and financing function. To get more orders,
the Group continuously invests in research and development
in wire harness application in the fields such as new energy
storage, new energy vehicles, and has gradually secured
trial production orders from some major customers in the
domestic market. It also continues the further expansion of
wire harness business in the medical and industrial sectors,
and increases overseas exhibitions and market development
efforts to open up emerging markets such as Southeast Asia
and South America. In addition, while the long suspension
of trading resulted in the Group being rated as high risk in
the financial health review, which was a big challenge for
customer maintenance, the Group is actively promoting the
resumption of trading and inviting customers to visit our
Vietnam manufacturing base to seek further cooperation.

To drive business growth in our architectural design business,
the Group invited the renowned architectural design Al
research and development teams for exchanges and to
explore the possibility of cooperation. The Group is also
collaborating with an Al research and development team to
build an Al platform serving architectural designers, so as to
reduce costs and increase efficiency through enhancement in
the design efficiency, and will arrange external promotion in
due course once the results of the research and development
are mature.
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Looking ahead, the Directors will remain confident and
optimistic that the Group will be well-positioned to seize new
opportunities and adapt new challenge. | would like to take
this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to all our
customers, suppliers, business partners, employees, and
shareholders for their valuable support for the Group. | will
lead the team to continue to work hard. The Group will forge
ahead to maximise returns for shareholders.

Mr. Wang Li Feng
Chairman and Non-Executive Director

30 June 2025

Chairman’s Statement
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Message from Lead Independent Director

BEEBVESNGE

To Our Shareholders,

The year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year”) remained
a challenging year for the Group in terms of resumption
progress and a tough operating environment. Trading in
the shares of the Company has been suspended since 2
July 2024, and the Company has submitted an application
to the Stock Exchange for the resumption of trading in the
Shares pending the approval from Stock Exchange. However,
progress has been delayed due to several persistent issues.
We, the independent Board members, recognize the
difficulties and challenges that the Company has been facing.
We commend the Company’s efforts in navigating the path
toward trading resumption while simultaneously managing
day-to-day operations and business activities under
particularly adverse economic conditions.

The Directors have used their best endeavors to fulfill the
resumption guidance set by the Stock Exchange. In particular,
on 18 June 2025, the Company announced and published
all outstanding financial results (“Outstanding Financial
Results”), including the announcement of the audited annual
results for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2024 (the
“2023/24 Annual Results”), the 2023/24 Annual Report, the
announcement of the interim results for the six months ended
30 September 2024 (the “2024 Interim Results”) and the
2024 Interim Report. In addition, the Company has published
its annual results for the year ended on 31 March 2025 on
30 June 2025 (“2024/2025 Annual Results”) with no audit
modification.

The Company is principally engaged in the Electronics
Business and the Architectural Design Business. In March and
October 2023, the Company disposed of its financial services
business to independent third parties due to a change in
senior management and the members of the Board of the
Company in charge of this business segment. The business
operations of the Group are continuing in all material respects
notwithstanding the suspension of trading in the shares of
the Company. The Board is confident that the Company will
continue to operate a viable and sustainable business.

Since the trading suspension on 2 July 2024, the Company
has published quarterly update announcements pursuant
to the GEM Listing Rules and has announced all material
information it considers necessary and appropriate for the
Company’s shareholders and other investors to appraise the
Company’s position.
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Message from Lead Independent Director

On 26 June 2025, the Company announced the appointment
of Ms. Xu Qiantong as its Company secretary. Following Ms.
Xu Qiantong’s appointment, the Company has re-complied
with Rule 5.14 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Board believes
that the appointment of Ms. Xu Qiantong could assist the
Company to achieve the objective of further strengthening,
amongst other things, its risk management, internal control
and/or corporate governance practices.

Despite the eventual publication of the Outstanding Financial
Results, the Company has adopted a proactive and
prudent approach by engaging an independent professional
consultancy firm to conduct a comprehensive review of the
major audit concerns that contributed to the prolonged delay.
This engagement seeks to identify the root causes of these
issues and formulate strategic recommendations to reinforce
the Company’s internal control framework. Key areas of
focus include strategic realignment, enhanced risk mitigation,
strengthened subsidiary-level oversight, and broader reporting
protocols. These initiatives are intended to reduce the risk of
recurrence while promoting greater transparency and enabling
more agile, informed decision-making across the Group. We,
as Independent Board members, will continue monitoring the
internal control effectiveness amid evolving challenges.

Looking ahead, all Directors will continue to perform their
duties and responsibilities diligently and give full play to their
professional advantages for the development of the Company.

Dr. Yan Ka Shing
Lead Independent Director

30 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MEEJEHHH /-\$ﬁ'

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in electronic business and
architectural design business. The financial services business
has been sold out with debts and non-performing assets
during the fourth fiscal quarter of 2023. In the electronic
business, the Group mainly designs, manufactures and
sells connectivity products mainly for computers, computer
peripheral products, mobile phones peripheral products,
multi-media consumable electronic products, communication
products, automobile electronics accessories, wire harness
and medical equipment (the “Electronics Business”). During
prior year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has tried to
expand its electronic products offering and enter into the
trading market of accelerated computing business since the
third fiscal quarter of 2023. The Group was committed to
providing comprehensive accelerated computing services,
including a variety of high-performance accelerated
computing products and accelerated computing product
rental services to meet the high-intensity computing needs
of different industries and business needs, such as Al, big
data and other fields. However, as the escalation of U.S.
government export control measures on high-performance
Al chips to China created material challenges for accelerated
computing business, the Group plans to gradually cease this
business in the future. In the architectural design business,
the Group is engaging in master planning work, general
design work and architectural schematic design work (the
“Architectural Design Business”).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
The Electronics Business

During the reporting period, this business segment
contributed revenue of approximately HK$163.6 million to
the Group (for 15-month ended 31 March 2024: HK$206.4
million), representing a decrease of approximately 20.7% as
compared with prior year ended 31 March 2024. However, as
prior year ended 31 March 2024 included 15 months, which
was 3 months more than the reporting period, the average
monthly revenue of the reporting period remained consistent
with prior year ended 31 March 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Architectural Design Business

This segment has been adversely impacted by the aftermath
of COVID-19 pandemic and the gigantic debt default events
in the PRC real estate industry for the last four years. This
business segment decrease from approximately HK$2.2
million to approximately HK$1.3 million in the reporting
period, representing a decrease of approximately 40.9%
year on year. However, the average monthly revenue of the
reporting period remained stable as compared with prior
year ended 31 March 2024. The Directors remain cautiously
optimistic to the results of the Architectural Design Business
in the future and are actively engaging in negotiation for new
design business.

Turnover

The Group recorded a total turnover of approximately
HK$164.9 million for the reporting period (for 15-month
ended 31 March 2024: approximately HK$208.6 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 20.9% as
compared with prior year ended 31 March 2024.

Gross profit

The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$13.4
million for the reporting period, representing a decrease
of approximately 34.0% as compared with approximately
HK$20.3 million for the 15-month ended 31 March 2024.

The reporting period’s average monthly gross profit declined
slightly as compared with prior year ended 31 March 2024
mainly due to the fluctuations in international market trends
and the influence of supply and demand, which led to an
increase in the procurement price of raw materials while the
product prices declined in the highly competitive market in
the Electronics Business. In addition, the gross profit margin
of the accelerated computing services was only 2.4%, which
also lowered the overall gross profit margin of the Group.

Other income

The Group earned other income of approximately HK$3.9
million for the reporting period (for 15-month ended 31 March
2024: approximately HK$4.1 million), representing a decrease
of approximately 4.9%, mainly due to the decrease of tooling
and sampling income during the reporting period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWLR DN

Other gains and losses

During the reporting period, the other gains is HK$1.7 million
(for 15-month ended 31 March 2024: the other gains of
approximately HK$71.5 million). The decrease is mainly due
to the impairment of long-standing receivables, trade and
non-trade.

Selling and distribution expenses

The selling and distribution expenses were approximately
HK$5.8 million during the reporting period (for 15-month
ended 31 March 2024: approximately HK$12.5 million),
decreased by 53.6%, which was mainly due to the stringent
cost control by the Group and absence of the prior year
selling and distribution expenses incurred by the Group for
entering into new industry or product markets.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses were approximately HK$55.0
million during the reporting period (for 15-month ended 31
March 2024: approximately HK$72.1 million), representing
a decrease of approximately HK$17.1 million, or 23.7%,
mainly due to the professional fee incurred for the Company’s
resumption of trading and the increase in depreciation
along with increase in right of-use assets, partially offset by
stringent cost control by the Group.

Finance costs

The finance costs were approximately HK$1.7 million
during the reporting period (for 15-month ended 31 March
2024: HK$4.6 million). The decrease was mainly due to
the amortization of liabilities over time and the decrease
in interest expense from the finance segment, as a result
less interests were charged during the reporting period as
compared with prior year ended 31 March 2024.

Income tax credit/(expenses)
The Group recorded an income tax credit of approximately
HK$2.3 million for the reporting period (for 15-month

ended 31 March 2024: income tax credit of approximately
HK$739,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Net Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company
from continuing operation

The Group reported a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company for the reporting period of approximately HK$57.0
million (for 15-month ended 31 March 2024: net loss of
approximately HK$693,000), increased by approximately
HK$56.3 million mainly due to the decrease in revenue and
gross profit.

Profit/loss per share from continuing operations

The basic and diluted loss per share for the Year was
approximately HK$8.1 cents (for 15-month ended 31 March
2024: basic and diluted profit per share of approximately
HK$0.7 cents).

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s net current assets,
cash and bank balances and equity attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to approximately HK$41.8
million, HK$26.3 million and HK$79.7 million (31 March
2024: approximately HK$85.8 million, HK$75.2 million and
HK$136.8 million) respectively. The current ratio, expressed
as current assets over current liabilities, was maintained at the
level of approximately 1.34 (31 March 2024: approximately
1.53).

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s gearing ratio was
approximately 1.79, increased from the gearing ratio of
approximately 1.35 as at 31 March 2024. The gearing
ratio is derived by dividing total liabilities (including but not
limited to interest-bearing borrowings, trade payables and
other payables and accruals) by total capital (including but
not limited to equity attributable to owners of the parent
company) at the end of the respective years.

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital Assets

The Directors currently do not have any future plans for
material investments or capital assets and will continue to
monitor the industry and review its business expansion plans
regularly, so as to take necessary measures in the Group’s
interests.

Capital Expenditures and Capital Commitments

The Group did not have material capital expenditures and
commitments as at 31 March 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEWLR DN

Foreign Exchange Risk

During the reporting period, most of the Group’s business
transactions were conducted in US dollars, Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi. Review of the Group’s exposure to
foreign exchange risks is conducted periodically. The Group
expected that the exposure to exchange rate fluctuation was
not significant and therefore did not engage in any hedging
activity during the Year.

Capital Structure

The Company did not run any capital exercise during the
reporting period.

OUTLOOK
The Electronics Business

As at mid-2025, with the US-China tech decoupling impacts
global supply chains, the Directors are actively diversifying
both our products offering and production. During the
reporting period, we have commenced the setting up of a
new production facility in Vietham and we are also actively
seeking opportunities to expand to others hot electronics
products such as advanced semiconductor. The Group also
suffered from the suspension of the trading which would
affect the Group’s reputation from the stakeholders’ views.
The Directors will endeavor to resume the trading in the
shares and will continuously strengthen our competitive
position with commitment to innovation and customer-
centricity.

The Architectural Design Business

With our brilliant design products and strong marketing
channels in the PRC, the Group is in the process of
strengthening our new services, a living aesthetic consulting
service which combined interior design-based services and
sales of electronic interior accessories under our own brand
name. During the reporting period, we have continued the
collaboration of the Architectural Design Business and the
Electronics Business, initial research and development on the
design and production process of the electronic accessories.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Li Feng (“Mr. Wang”), aged 61, was appointed
and has been an executive Director of the Company since 15
September 2016. Mr. Wang was re-designated from the Vice
Chairman of the Board to Chairman of the Board on 23 April
2023 and he was re-designated from an executive Director
to a non-executive Director on 30 May 2024. Mr. Wang is
currently the chairman of the strategy and development
committee, a member of the executive committee and the
remuneration committee, and also a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wang obtained a master’s degree in architecture from
Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology in November 1991.
Mr. Wang is also a director of PT Design, the controlling
shareholder of the Company. He worked as the chief
representative for Peddle Thorp Architects Melbourne Asia
Shenzhen Office (B AR EHEERANEERTBERAF
FIYIAR K EE) from February 1998 to January 2003. He has
been the executive director of Peddle Thorp Consultants
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd (fAE## ORI BBR A 7)) since January
2003 and has been the chairman of PT Architecture Design
(Shenzhen) Company Limited (18782 £ X5t ORI SR A 7))
since March 2009.

Mr. Fan Xiaoling (“Mr. Fan”), aged 40, was appointed as
an executive Director of the Company on 5 December 2019.
He is currently the chairman of the executive committee, a
member of the strategy and development committee of the
Company, and also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Group’s electronics business.

Mr. Fan has over 17 years of experience in the electronics
industry. He has strong abilities in supply chain strategy,
sales and operation planning, demand planning, forecasting
development, quality management, logistics management
and project management. He has extensive and successful
experiences in North America, South East Asia, Finland,
Germany, Brazil, Mexico, and United Kingdom market. He
is the director of supply chain management of LTL Group,
LLC., where he is mainly responsible for the supply chain
management of semi-conductors and electronic products.

Mr. Fan obtained a Bachelor of Finance degree from East
China Jiaotong University, China, in June 2008.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Yan Ka Shing (“Dr. Yan”), aged 39, was appointed
and has been an independent non-executive Director of the
Company since 5 December 2019, and was appointed as
lead independent Director of the Company on 30 May 2024.
Dr. Yan is currently the co-chair of the audit committee and
the chairman of the remuneration committee, a member
of the strategy and development committee, the executive
committee, and the nomination committee of the Company,
where he is primarily responsible for providing independent
advice to the Board.

Dr. Yan has nearly 14 years of experience in the medical
industry and has been employed by the Hospital Authority
since July 2011. He completed his housemanship in the
Hospital Authority from July 2011 to June 2012. He then
became a registered doctor and has served as a medical
officer in various hospitals managed by the Hospital Authority
in Hong Kong since July 2012.

Dr. Yan obtained his Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor
of Surgery (MBBS) degree from the University of Hong
Kong in November 2011, the Membership of the Royal
Colleges of Physicians of the United Kingdom (MRCP (UK)),
a postgraduate medical diploma in the United Kingdom, in
March 2016, and the Postgraduate Diploma in Infectious
Diseases from the University of Hong Kong (PDipID (HK))
in October 2019, and the Postgraduate Diploma in Family
Medicine from the Hong Kong College of Family Physicians in
June 2024. He was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong
College of Physicians in January 2017, then became Fellow
and Specialist in Endocrinology, Diabetes and Metabolism,
and has held fellowships from the Hong Kong College
of Physicians and the Hong Kong Academy of Medicine
(Medicine), since September 2020 and December 2020,
respectively. Also, he has been a member of the Hong Kong
Medical Association since July 2011.

Dr. Yan was appointed and has been an independent non-
executive director of Victory Securities (Holdings) Company
Limited (“Victory Securities”, stock code: 8540.HK)
since 14 June 2018, and is currently the chairman of the
nomination committee, a member of the audit committee and
the remuneration committee of Victory Securities.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Dr. Yan was appointed and has been an independent non-
executive director of Comtec Solar Systems Group Limited
(“Comtec Solar”, stock code: 712.HK) since 1 July 2021,
and is currently a member of the audit committee, the
nomination committee, and the remuneration committee of
Comtec Solar.

Mr. Zhang De An (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 63, was appointed
and has been an independent non-executive Director of
the Company since 23 April 2023. Mr. Zhang is currently a
member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee,
and the nomination committee of the Company, where he is
responsible for providing independent advice to the Board.

Mr. Zhang obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Political
Economics from the Department of Economics of Peking
University in 1984. Mr. Zhang was engaged in teaching in the
Department of Economics of Anhui University from July 1984
to August 1987. He worked as a secretary in the Office of
the President of Anhui University from August 1987 to July
1991, and served as the head of the Training Division of the
Education Department of the People’s Bank of Anhui Province
from July 1991 to July 1993. He served as the secretary
to the Chairman, the manager of the sales department and
the deputy general manager of the HK Kawoo Group from
July 1993 to June 2013, as well as acted as the general
manager of Tianjin Galaxy Doctor Technology Development
Company Limited* (RK3EHRME LR F R BR A7) from
July 2013 to August 2016; the deputy general manager of
China Great Wall Medical Investment Management Company
Limited* (f8 M =% 22 18 & & 12 A R A Al) from August 2016
to May 2018; and the general manager of Shenzhen Junan
Investment Development Company Limited* (F 3145 % % & 3
& B R R 7)) since September 2018.

Ms. Yeung Sum (“Ms. Yeung”), aged 52, was appointed
and has been an independent non-executive Director of
the Company since 14 June 2024. Ms. Yeung is currently
a chairlady of the audit committee and a member of the
strategy and development committee of the Company.

Ms. Yeung has more than 21 years of experience in the fields
of risk management, audit, finance and internal control. She
was a founding partner of the business risk-advisory practices
of both Hong Kong and China offices, and a lead partner in
the business risk-advisory practices of South China when she
was with one of the four largest renowned accounting firms.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Ms. Yeung has been an independent non-executive director
of Freetech Road Recycling Technology (Holdings) Limited
(“Freetech”, Stock Code: 6888.HK) since August 2012,
and is currently the chairman of the audit committee and a
member of the remuneration committee of Freetech.

Ms. Yeung obtained a bachelor’s degree in commerce
majoring in finance and accounting from University of
Auckland in May 1995. She has been a certified public
accountant certified by the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since April 2006, and a certified internal
auditor awarded by the Institute of Internal Auditors since
November 2002.

Ms. Lo Choi Ha (“Ms. Lo”), aged 38, was appointed
and has been an independent non-executive Director of
the Company since 28 March 2024. Ms. Lo is currently a
member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee,
the nomination committee of the Company.

Ms. Lo has extensive experience in the fields of finance and
business management. Since 2021, she has held the position
of director at Summi (HK) Asia Limited, overseeing the
company’s finance and accounting functions. Ms. Lo received
her advanced diploma in Business Management from Lingnan
University in January 2024.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Lee Jui-lan (“Ms. Lee”), aged 64, is a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company’s electronics
business. Ms. Lee has over 33 years of experience in
the electronics industry. She has extensive experience in
software development, marketing electronic products, and
management in Taiwan. She worked in Intertek Testing
Services Taiwan Ltd., which is principally engaged in testing,
inspecting and certifying electronic products, for more than
10 years with the last position of the general manager of the
electronic business unit principally responsible for the overall
management, which is a subsidiary of Intertek Group PLC, a
company listed in the London Stock Exchange.

Ms. Lee obtained a Bachelor of Electronics Engineering

degree from National Taipei University of Technology, Taiwan
in June 1984.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements for the reporting period.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the reporting period
is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and "Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 5 to 7, pages 10 to 14 and
pages 30 to 43 of this annual report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the reporting period and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 52 to 200.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

During the reporting period, the Group adopted the following
policies to improve the environmental quality:

° to design and produce connectivity products by taking
into account the possibility of dismantling and recovery
of the components and materials

° to use recycled papers as printing materials whenever
appropriate
° to reduce electricity consumption by switching off any

light and electrical appliances which are not in use

° to choose energy efficiency appliances (with energy
labels showing on prescribed products) with lowest
energy consumption

° to avoid, reduce or control environmental pollution
arising from the Group’s operations and to require
our contractors to adopt and implement similar
environmental measures

° to ensure good management practices by reviewing
them regularly and ensure that they are tuned to the
changing internal and external circumstances

° to comply with all applicable environmental legislation,
standards and regulations

Directors’ Report
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EEERE

The Group will put in place additional environmental policies
as and when appropriate or necessary to ensure that its
business operations are conducted in an environmentally
responsible manner.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of
the Group.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The largest and the top five suppliers of the Group accounted
for about 28.3% and 57.8%, respectively, of the Group’s total
purchases for the reporting period.

The largest and the top five customers of the Group
accounted for about 16.8% and 57.6%, respectively, of the
Group’s total turnover for the reporting period.

At no time during the reporting period did a director, an
associate of a director, or a shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5%
of the Company’s share capital) have an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the reporting period are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 52 to 54 of this annual
report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the reporting period as the Board is expecting
an unstable external business environment for the reporting
period.

FIXED ASSETS

Saved as disclosed otherwise in this annual report, the Group
did not have material capital expenditures and commitments
as at 31 March 2025.

Details of these and other movements during the reporting
period in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are
set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements
for the reporting period, respectively.
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LIABILITIES

The Group raised new borrowings, in the form of bank loans
and unsecured borrowings for working capital replenishment.
As at 31 March 2025, the outstanding amount was
approximately HK$14.9 million.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the reporting period in the
share capital of the Group are set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements for the reporting period.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE OF THE GROUP

The Group’s reserve available for distribution to shareholders
as at 31 March 2025 amounted to HK$Nil.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the reporting period and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Director:
Mr. Fan Xiaoling

Non-executive Director:
Mr. Wang Li Feng (Chairman)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Dr. Yan Ka Shing (Lead Independent Director)
Mr. Zhang De An

Ms. Lo Choi Ha

Ms. Yeung Sum
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In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Bye-laws of the
Company, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation. And, according
to the Corporate Governance Code under Appendix C1 to
the GEM listing Rules (“CG Code”), every Director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with Article 84(2) of the Bye-laws of the
Company, any Director appointed by the Board pursuant to
Article 83(2) shall not be taken into account in determining
which particular Directors or the number of Directors who are
to retire by rotation.

In accordance with Article 83(2) of the Bye-laws of the
Company, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting of
members of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

To comply with the above, Mr. Wang and Dr. Yan shall retire
from office, and Ms. Lo, Mr. Zhang and Ms. Yeung shall be
subject to re-election, at the forthcoming AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the
Company not terminable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short position of the
directors and their associates in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or its associate corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Exchange
pursuant to the required standards of dealings by directors of
listed issuer as referred to the Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of Chapter
5 of the GEM Listing Rules and Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company were as
follows:
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RZEZAF=ZA=+—H EARAREE
FLHEGD ([BHRBEHKH])EI52(
GEzERMATRE  KBREGEMEMRAIE
5EE546E5.67TIRMMIL EM BT AZESZ#T
RG22 WSTIZAE LA K 78 5 M R A& SEXVED 5
TRESHWRITEARAB KB ZFER 2B
FERARNARMELZBN EERES 2B
BARARARHEBE EZE (EERFHILBH
EIRBIEXVE) 2 BRD REBERMD P EES 2 #
HRKEWAT

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company AATEBREEIMIEBTZEBR
Number of Percentage of
issued issued share
ordinary capital of
Name of director Capacity shares held the Company
FEE®T MMAARDRIT
EEEE 5% ZEKR#A BRAEAZEDEH
Mr. Wang (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 355,620,000 (L) 50.51%
FhE (KaFT) ZEHEE R
Mr. Wang Beneficial owner 52,595,000 (L) 7.47%
Fha EHEEA
Note: Biat -
L denotes long position (L) B A
1. The 355,620,000 shares are held by PT Design Group Holdings 1. TR A ME2E%HEWPT Design Group Holdings

Limited (“PT Design”), which is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Wang.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company, nor their associates had any
interests or short positions in any shares or underlying shares
of the Company or any of its associated corporations as at
31 March 2025.

Limited ( [PT Design] ) #5%5355,620,0004% f% 17 ©
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, the persons or entities (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) who have
interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company which have been disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO or as

FTERRRAQCARDRMEBARG 2 xS
/SRR

R-ZFE-_AF=ZA=1T—B REEZFLHAE
R P EXVER 2 M3 B Z R X B M A 2 B
BRARARMDEAEERDHHEEEDIARR
ZATHERB(EZERARBEIEZTHABR
M) P AR T*E?fomé%&ﬁﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬂ’%3361%

//\%ﬁEZﬁ‘pEﬁHFﬁuEﬁj&ﬁﬁ %HZ'S
RRRRDRAEARD P EEERIRE Z}\

otherwise notified to the Company, were as follows: THERB(ESENARAEETHAERI)
OIS
Number of  Percentage of
issued issued share
ordinary capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity shares held the Company
e 81T (thAQTS8T
REER 54 ZRREA BEAzBED K
PT Design Beneficial Owner 355,620,000 (L) 50.51%
PT Design EREBA
Mr. Pang Kuo-Shi (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 74,403,000 10.57%
FEREL A (Hit1) IR HE B s
Modern Wealth Assets Limited Beneficial owner 74,403,000 10.57%
(Note 1)
Modern Wealth Assets Limited EnEA A
(Krat1)
L denotes long position L Bire
Note. 23
1. Mr. Pang Kuo-Shi is deemed to be interested in the 74,403,000 shares 1. EEEAEERARERBELAE2ERHGN DA
held by Modern Wealth Assets Limited, a company wholly-owned by Modern Wealth Assets LimitedF 54 #)74,403,000
Mr. Pang Kuo-Shi. BERE D A RS o
SHARE OPTIONS & i E
The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant to ARBAR -ZEZE—F+-A+=BREALARA

an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) on 13 December 2001.
Such share option scheme expired upon a period of ten
(10) years commencing on the date on which it becomes
unconditional, and no share option was granted thereunder.
The Company has not adopted any new share option scheme
thereafter.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the reporting period was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable
the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation on his
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Other than the interests disclosed under the section
headed “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares
and Underlying Shares” above, no person in the register
of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO was disclosed as having
a notifiable interest or short position in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company or
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in this report, during the reporting period
ended 31 March 2025, the Group had no transactions
which need to be disclosed as connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that those
material related party transactions disclosed in Note 40
to the financial statements did not fall under the definition
of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected
transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of
the reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. The
Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements (if applicable) under Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2025, PT Shenzhen is wholly-owned by PT
Consultants which is in turn owned as to 23.07% by Mr.
Wang, 22.0% by Mr. Kong Lixing (a former executive Director
who resigned on 5 December 2019) and 13.6% by Mr. Zhao
Guo Xing (a former executive Director who resigned on 5
December 2019).

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group’s employees are selected, remunerated
and promoted based on their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are
determined with regard to the Group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the reporting period.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save for the continuing connected transactions and
connected transactions disclosed above, during the reporting
period, the following Director had interests in the following
business which were considered to compete or likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group (other than those business where the Directors
were appointed as directors to represent the interests of the
Company and/or the Group):

Name of entity which were
considered to compete or

Directors’ Report
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BREXERKERERILNAEXSARES
ShoMBmEME THESFRA TR R EAR
SEXBEEIHEBRRATEBRBEF ZE
B(EZRZARESTURKRERAR XK
KSERSZEBHRIN P REERES:

Name of Director

likely to compete with
the business of the Group

Description of
competing Business

Nature of interests

WERBAEEELER
EEpg FARBERGE2EREE BREXFBHER EEME
Wang Li Feng PT Consultants Provision of Architectural Directly holding 23.07%
Design Service (other interest in PT Consultants
than technical and and a director
documentation work)
TEE ABE A REFERFRSE (ML BEFEABHKH23.07%HE

PT Shenzhen

aE R

Shanghai PT Architecture
Design & Consultant Co.,
Ltd (“Shanghai PT”)

EEMERERFEANER
~AE ([ EEwE])

X8 TEERSM)

Provision of Architectural
Design Service (other
than technical and
documentation work)

R EERERT (BT &
g TAERRON)

Provision of Architectural
Design Service (other
than technical and
documentation work)

RUELEERF RS (K&
MAETAERSN)

ORISR
Hm WAES

Indirectly holding 23.07%
interest in PT Shenzhen
through PT Consultants
and a director

FRNEZARERERE
RYI28.07 % W RES

Indirectly holding 17% interest
in Shanghai PT and a
director

RIS LIS M1 7%
TAEE
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As (i) the above Director is fully aware of his fiduciary duty
to the Group, and will abstain from voting on any matter
where there is or may be a conflict of interest; (i) the Master-
planning and Architectural Design Business will be first
undertaken by the Group as general design contractor under
the Business Cooperation Agreement, unless otherwise
requested by independent developers; (i) unless otherwise
requested by independent developers, all master-planning
work shall be first subcontracted to the Group; (iv) the Group
have the first right of refusal on accepting the architectural
schematic design work unless it is specifically requested
by the independent developers that such work shall be
performed by PT Consultants or PT Architectural; and (v) Mr.
Wang has not involved in the day-to-day management and
operation of Shanghai PT, the Group is capable of carrying
its business independently of and at arm’s length from the
businesses of these entities. Save as disclosed above, the
Directors are not aware of any business and interest of the
Directors that competed or might compete with the business
of the Group and any other conflict of interests which any
such person had or might have with the Group during the
reporting period.

DONATIONS

During the reporting period, the Group did not make any
charitable and other donations.

SUFFICIENCY PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and to
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had, up to the
date of this report, maintained the public float required by the
GEM Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every
Director or other officers of the Company shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their
executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or
about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their
respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall
incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and a retirement benefit scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong and the Taiwan, respectively. The assets of
the schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes
5% and 6% of relevant payroll costs to the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme and the defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme respectively, which contribution is
matched by employees. For contribution to the Mandatory
Provident Fund, the maximum amount is HK$1,500 per
month.

Eligible staff of subsidiaries operating in the PRC currently
participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. The PRC subsidiaries is required to
contribute an amount of 10% on the covered payroll of its
employees to the central pension scheme for the funding
of the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefit obligations of
the eligible employees of the PRC subsidiaries.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed herein, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during Period or subsisted at the end of the
reporting period.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2025 were audited by Prism
Hong Kong Limited. A resolution will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company to re-appoint Prism Hong
Kong Limited as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Wang Li Feng
Chairman and Non-Executive Director

30 June 2025
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Pursuant to Rule 18.44 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (‘GEM Listing Rules”), the
Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report
for the year ended 31 March 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance and believes that in the achievement
of the long-term objectives of the Group, it is of utmost
importance to conduct the business with accountability,
transparency and fairness. As of 31 March 2025, the
Board with the assistance of the company secretary of the
Company and the external legal adviser, continues to monitor
and review the corporate governance (“CG”) practices of the
Group to be in line with the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
C1 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company has
complied with the code provisions of the CG Code to the
GEM Listing Rules throughout the reporting period.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted the required standard of dealings
(the “Required Standard of Dealings”) set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, all Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Required
Standard of Dealings during the reporting period.
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THE BOARD

The Board has a balance of skills and experiences appropriate
for the Group’s business. There is a balance of both executive
and non-executive Directors in the Board members who
bring to the Board a wide range of professional experiences
in the management, finance, and legal industries, which
provide strong support towards the effective discharge of the
duties and responsibilities of the Board. As at the date of this
Annual Report, the Board comprises a total of six Directors,
with one executive Directors, namely, Mr. Fan, and one non-
executive Director, namely Mr. Wang (Chairman), and four
independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Yan (Lead
Independent Director), Mr. Zhang, Ms. Lo, and Ms. Yeung.
The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out
in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report.

The types of decisions taken by the Board include matters in
relation to:

° corporate and capital structure;

° corporate strategy;

° significant policies affecting the Group as a whole;

° business plan, budgets and public announcements;

° delegation to the Chairman, and delegation to and by

Board committees;
° key financial matters;

° appointment, removal or reappointment of Board
members, senior management and auditors;

o remuneration of directors and senior management; and

° communication with key stakeholders, including
shareholders and regulatory bodies.

The Board may delegate certain decision-making regarding
the daily operation and administration of the Group to the
senior management from time to time. The daily operation
and management of the Group is monitored by the executive
Directors under the direction and supervision of the executive
Directors.
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During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company held 19
regular Board meetings. The meetings were conducted on an
online basis, and the attendance record of each member of
the Board at the Board meetings of the Company is set out
below:

HE_T_RAF=A=+—BILFE KxQA
ERTIOREHREFTEFH -2 URLEA
BT EFE@EKBHEARRIEZE®R
FREERE ST

Attendance
Members of Board EEgNE =
Mr. Wang (Chairman) TRE(EE) 19/19
Mr. Fan BRAE 19/19
Dr. Yan (Lead Independent Director) MBE (BEEBUESE) 19/19
Mr. Zhang SR 19/19
Ms. Lo EZ+ 19/19
Ms. Yeung (appointed on 14 June 2024) BRET(RZEZNFASATHBEEZE) 12/12
Mr. Ni Xian (ceased to act on 30 May 2024) {#5Z%4 (R=_Z_WEH A=+ BHE) 4/4
Mr. Sui Fuxiang (resigned on 16 April 2024) FER&FELEE (KT ZMF M A -/ BEfE) 2/2

There are no relationships (including financial, business,
family, or other material or relevant relationships) among
members of the Board.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Chairman
of the Group is responsible for leading the Board to ensure
that it operates effectively and performs its duties, while
Chief Executive of the Group is responsible for the overall
implementation of the Group’s business development and
general management. The Company has no Chief Executive
Officer since 29 December 2022.

During the reporting period, the daily operation and
management of the Group is undertaken and monitored
by the executive Directors, and senior management of the
Company is responsible for the day-to-day management,
administration, and operation of the Group. The delegated
functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. The Board
will continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate
governance structure of the Group in order to assess
whether the appointment of Chief Executive Officer, and
the separation of the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer are necessary. The Group will continue to enhance its
corporate governance practices appropriate to the business
and to review its corporate governance practices from time
to time to ensure they comply with the statutory requirements
and regulations and the CG Code and align with the latest
developments.
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Since the re-designation of Mr. Wang to non-executive
Director on 30 May 2024, Mr. Wang would focus on the
management of the Board and its Board committee while
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business would
be taken care of by Mr. Fan, the executive Director of the
Company with the senior management team. The Board
considers that the Company has complied with Code
Provision C.2.1 since then.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee comprises four
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Yeung (Co-
Chair of the Audit Committee), Dr. Yan (Co-Chair of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Zhang, and Ms. Lo.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee
held 13 meetings and performed the following duties:

(1) reviewed and commented on the Company’s draft
annual, interim, and quarterly financial announcements,
Directors’ Report, Independent Auditors’ Report, and
Financial Statements, with a recommendation to the
Board for approval;

(2) reviewed and commented on the Group’s internal
controls;

(3) met with the external auditors and participated in the
appointment, reappointment, and assessment of the
performance of the external auditors:

° reviewed the results of the external audits;

° reviewed and assessed the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk control/mitigation tools, including
the risk management systems, the internal audit
function relating to risk management, and the
Group’s contingency plans;

° reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
systems after considering the report from the
internal auditors;
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TEERBRE
° reviewed the significant findings and
recommendations from the internal auditor
and external auditor, and monitored their
implementations; and
° reviewed and monitored the compliance by the
Company with all applicable laws, regulations,
standards, and best practice guidelines.
(4) the annual results presented herein have been

reviewed by the Audit Committee; and

5) monitor the status of resumption.

The attendance record of each member of the Audit
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out
below:

. *ﬁ%ﬁW%ﬁ%?&Efﬁ&ﬁ\\ﬁBﬁ%{Eﬁiﬁﬁ
EXERBANER UEBEHER
B R

. BT EZEARBTEMAEBRE

@ ERCBRERKEERESN
vr\ ‘ /R°
(4) ARE2I2E2FEHECHBEZLZEE®
=25 &
(6) ERERAMNR-

HE_TZ_RAF=A=+—BILFE BFZZ
BEe@8MBZHEREHIMT

Attendance

Members of Audit Committee ERZEEERE =

Ms. Yeung (Co-Chair) (appointed on Bt (#HEFE) (R_TE_NFA+HA 9/9
14 June 2024) BZRE)

Dr. Yan (Co-Chair) BY (HEFE) 13/13

Mr. Zhang SR 13/13

Ms. Lo Bzt 13/13

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the remuneration paid
or payable to the Group’s auditor, Prism Hong Kong Limited,
in respect of audit and non-audit services is set out below:

2 L

BHE_Z_RAF=RA=+—RHLEE F2
ENHENARRZEMEZE ;#Eﬁ%ifkﬁﬁﬁ
RRE MOFEARBZMEHI AT

2024/25 2023/24
—2-pQm —E-=/
T} —_
Prism Hong Kong Limited BEESHEXEFAERAA
Audit service iR 1,150 1,150

An independence confirmation has been obtained from
Prism Hong Kong Limited confirming that Prism Hong Kong
Limited is independent of the Group in accordance with the
independence requirements of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants for the year ended 31 March
2025 and up to the date of this Annual Report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision
E.1.2 of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee was
formed for, inter alia, the following purposes:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on policies
and structure for remuneration of Directors and senior
management, and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing policy on
such remuneration; and

(b) to determine the remuneration packages for executive
Directors and senior management, and to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors.

As at 31 March 2025, the Remuneration Committee was
made up of one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Wang,
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr.
Yan (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Zhang,
and Mr. Lo.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Remuneration
Committee held 1 meeting by means of online conference.
The attendance record of each member of the Remuneration
Committee is set out below:

Members of Remuneration Committee HFMZEEERKE
Dr. Yan (Chairman) MEE (/)
Mr. Wang FhAE

Ms. Zhang KA

Mr. Lo Bt

Details regarding the Company’s emoluments policy and long-
term incentive schemes, as well as the basis of determining
the Directors’ emoluments are set out in this Annual Report.

The Remuneration Committee will meet and review the
emolument policy and long-term incentive schemes, as well
as the basis of determining the emolument payable to the
Company’s Directors for the year ended 31 March 2025.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with code provision
B.3.1 of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee adopted
the following procedure and criteria for the nomination of
Directors:

1 Procedure for Nomination of Directors

1.1 when there is a vacancy in the Board, the Board
evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge,
and experience of the Board, and identifies
any special requirements for the vacancy
(e.g., independence status in the case of an
independent non-executive Director);

1.2 prepare a description of the role and capabilities
required for the particular vacancy;

1.3 identify a list of candidates through personal
contacts/recommendations by Board members,
senior management, business partners, or
investors;

1.4 arrange interview(s) with each candidate for the
Board to evaluate whether the candidate meets
the established written criteria for nomination of
Directors. One or more members of the Board
will attend the interview;

1.5 conduct verification on information provided by
the candidate; and

1.6 convene both the Nomination Committee
meeting and the Board meeting to discuss and
vote on which candidate to nominate or appoint
to the Board.
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2

Criteria for Nomination of Directors

2.1

common criteria for all Directors:

(a)
(b)

character and integrity;

the willingness to assume broad fiduciary
responsibility;

present needs of the Board for particular
experience or expertise, and whether the
candidate would satisfy those needs;

relevant experience, including experience
at the strategy/policy setting level, high
level managerial experience in a complex
organisation, industry experience
and familiarity with the products and
processes used by the Group;

significant business or public experience

relevant and beneficial to the Board and
the Group;

breadth of knowledge about issues
affecting the Group;

ability to objectively analyse complex
business problems and exercise sound

business judgment;

ability and willingness to contribute
special competencies to Board activities;

fit with the Group’s culture; and

board diversity.

2
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2.2 criteria for non-executive Directors:

(@) willingness and ability to make a
sufficient time commitment to the affairs
of the Group in order to effectively
perform the duties of a Director, including
attendance at and active participation in
Board and committee meetings;

(b) accomplishments of the candidate in his
or her field;

(c) outstanding professional and personal
reputation; and

(d) ability to meet the independence criteria
for directors established in the GEM
Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee was made
up of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Dr.
Yan (Chairman of the Nomination Committee), Mr. Zhang, and
Ms. Lo.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Nomination
Committee held 3 meetings by means of online conference.
The attendance record of each member of the Nomination
Committee is set out below:
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Attendance
Members of Nomination Committee REZEERKE HEE
Dr. Yan (Chairman) mMEE () 3/3
Mr. Zhang 9K 3/3
Ms. Lo B+ 3/3
Mr. Wang (ceased to act on 30 May 2024) T #h4A (R-_Z_WNFER A=+ HEET) 2/2
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BOARD DIVERSITY

In structuring the Board composition, by taking into account
the Group’s board diversity policy, board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All the ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board comprises two
female Directors and four male Directors. The Company has
complied with the revised Rule 17.104 of the GEM Listing
Rules that came into effect on 1 January 2022.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

The Directors must keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities and are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company would
provide to each newly appointed Director or alternative
Director an induction package covering the summary of the
responsibilities and liabilities of a director of a Hong Kong
listed company, the Group’s businesses and the statutory
regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company as
well as the Company’s constitutional documents to ensure
that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities and
obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements.

The Company has provided information related to the
changes in the GEM Listing Rules to the Directors to
update and refresh the Directors’ knowledge on the latest
developments to the GEM Listing Rules. The Company will
continuously update the Directors on the latest developments
to the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance the
directors’ awareness of good corporate governance
practices.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025, a summary of their HE-_Z_-_HAF=-A=Z+—HILFE BEH

records of continuous development training is as follows: FEBRRBICERENT
Attending
webinars/
reading
materials
and updates
relevant to
corporate
governance
o FE B
TEEREBN
WEmstg
BEMEER
EHERRBIE
Name of Directors EERE MR REH
Mr. Wang (Chairman) TRE(EE) 4
Mr. Fan BRAE v
Dr. Yan (Lead Independent Director) DELE(BEERAZEE) 4
Mr. Zhang e 4
Ms. Lo Ex+t 4
Ms. Yeung B+ 4

INSIDE INFORMATION NEHE

The Directors are aware of the requirements under the E EXEEA RO FFH & B E K F EXIVAED
applicable regulations, Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures KE&BBCEWHRAD) BREEREMANEEE
Ordinance, and the Hong Kong Listing Rules for the handling MR E -ZEZ#FMNBE AR EEHABBAR
and dissemination of inside information. All the inside AMTIYWERBALEEAAZAGLEE HEE
information identified by the Directors shall be published EEGIFS7T1EZHRPEKABETHERNZ
and disclosed to the public in a timely manner through the 2% K= BB Ih o

Company’s publications and communications, unless the

information falls within safe harbours as prescribed in the

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws

of Hong Kong).
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the reporting period, Ms. Li Hoi Mei ceased to act as
the company secretary on 23 March 2025. Ms. XU Qiantong
(“Ms. Xu”) was appointed by the Board as the company
secretary with effect from 26 June 2025 pursuant to Rule
5.14 of the GEM Listing Rules. Ms. Xu has solid work
experience in the fields of compliance (company secretarial
and listing matters) and business advisory in the areas of
internal control, environmental, social and governance (‘ESG”)
reporting, accounting and tax advisory. Ms. Xu is a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ms. Xu graduated from the University
of International Business and Economics in the PRC with a
Degree of Bachelor in Economics (Finance) and a Degree
of Bachelor in Management (Accounting) (Minor Bachelor’s
Degree), and obtained a degree of Master of Science in
Financial Engineering with Distinction from the City University
of Hong Kong.

All the Directors have access to the advice and services of
the company secretary on corporate governance and Board
practice, and matters.

During the reporting period, the company secretaries have
complied with the relevant professional training requirement
under Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Group has formulated risk management and internal
control systems to provide standard guidelines for
identification, assessment, management, monitoring and
reporting of all materials risks of the Group. Appropriate
internal control procedures are established to ensure a
comprehensive, accurate and timely record of accounting and
management information.
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The Group has an Internal Audit Department which
reports directly to the Audit Committee. The Internal Audit
Department conducts a regular review to ensure the financial
statement is prepared in accordance with the relevant
accounting standards and applicable laws and regulations.
[t provides the Audit Committee and the Board with useful
information and recommendations on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control systems. Internal Controls
Review Reports are submitted to the Audit Committee and
the Board for review with recommendations adopted to
further enhance the effectiveness of the internal controls. The
Internal Audit Department also assists the Audit Committee
in monitoring the implementations of the previously identified
findings and reports the status of remediation to the Audit
Committee. The Internal Audit Department generally reviews
and assesses the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
systems by adopting a risk-based audit approach based on
the Internal Control — 2013 Integrated Framework issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COS0O”).

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

According to the Bye-Laws of the Company, any one or
more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
Shareholders may, at any time, direct questions, request for
publicly available information and provide comments and
suggestions to directors or management of the Company.
Such questions, requests and comments can be addressed
to Mr. Wang by email to lifengwang@188.com or Mr. Patrick
Chang at patrick@cuvi.com.hk.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date
of this annual report, there has not been any change in the
Company’s Bye-laws. The Company’s Bye-laws are available
on the websites of the Company (www.glorymark.com.tw)
and the Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The declaration, form, frequency, and amount of any dividend
payout of the Company must be in accordance with relevant
laws, rules and regulations and subject to the Bye-laws of the
Company.

The dividends may be paid up in the form of the Company’s
shares in addition to cash, by the distribution of specific
assets of any kind, or by distribution of any form. Subject to
compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and the
Bye-laws of the Company, in deciding whether to propose
any dividend payout, the Board will take into account,
among other things, the financial results, the earnings,
losses and distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity
requirements, the debt ratio and possible effects on the credit
lines, and the current and future development plans of the
Group.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % BT R

@ Prism

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA UNITED VENTURE
INVESTMENT LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in
Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China United Venture Investment Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 52 to 200, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional
judgement, was of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. The
matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on the matter.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

Valuation of loan receivables, trade and other

receivables

Refer to notes 25 and 27 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The key audit matter
HAEETSE

BEEREE (5
B SR B8R R 4

IR AR A M ISR K M 25 %27 o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

REBEMTHESNAEREZER

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the
Group’s loan receivables, trade receivables and
other receivables are approximately HK$689,000,
HK$28,194,000 and HK$36,754,000 respectively, net
of accumulated loss of HK$11,000, HK$17,117,000
and HK$426,000 respectively.

The management of the Group conducted periodic
assessment on the expected credit losses (“ECLs”) of
the loan receivables, trade and other receivables and
the sufficiency of provision for loss allowance based
on factors including ageing of the trade receivables,
historical settlement records, expected timing and
amount of realisation of outstanding balances,
and ongoing trading relationships with the relevant
customers. Additionally, management considered
forward-looking information that might impact the
customers’ ability to repay the outstanding balances to
estimate the ECLs.

We have identified the loss allowance on loan
receivables, trade receivables and other receivables as
a key audit matter due to its significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements and the extensive
use of management judgement in the ECLs, which may
be subject to management bias.

Our procedures in relation to valuation of loan
receivables, trade and other receivables assets
included the following:

S Reviewed the management’s assessment of
ECL model and challenge the reasonableness of
the methods and assumptions used to estimate
the ECL of loan receivables, trade and other
receivables;

- Obtained an understanding of the methodology
for the ECL model, development processes and
evaluated the design and implementation of the
key controls through review of documentation
and discussion with management;

- Assessed and challenged the reasonableness of
the assumptions and judgements made by the
Group’s management regarding model adoption
and parameter selection;

- Examined the key data inputs to the ECL model
on a sample basis to assess their accuracy and
reasonableness; and

- Checked mathematical accuracy of the
calculation of the provision for loss allowance.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

Valuation of loan receivables, trade and other

receivables (Continued)

The key audit matter
BRETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit

Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’'s report that includes our
opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’ s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Kwok Lun.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lee Kwok Lun

Practising Certificate Number: P06294
Hong Kong

30 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

AEeREEREMEZEKRER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
B_ZE_=%F
BZE —H—HBE=E
—E_REF T MF
=A=+—8 =A=+—H
IEFEE 1-HA R
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M &t FET FHEIT
Continuing operations FEREXK
Revenue A ) 164,940 208,569
Cost of sales and services rendered  #4% & 2 1 iR 7% ik 2 (151,574) (188,227)
Gross profit E7 13,366 20,342
Other income Hp g A 7 3,852 4,077
Other gains/(losses), net HAap s (E518) 358 8 1,723 71,509
Impairment losses on financial and €@ EEHNEEZ REEE
contract assets, net FRE 9 (4,697) (517)
Change in fair value of financial EAVTEHABRCEMEEL
assets at fair value through NEEE
profit or loss (1,799) 1,988
Change in fair value of investment ~ REWE QA FEZH
properties 20 (9,428) (4,767)
Selling and distribution expenses HERSHEAX (5,801) (12,538)
Administrative expenses TR X (54,971) (72,126)
Finance costs B 75 X AR 10 (1,662) (4,617)
(Loss)/profit before tax from REFECEER ZBRBLA
continuing operations (B8E),HA 15 (59,417) 3,351
Income tax credit g i & 14 2,340 739
(Loss)/profit for the year/period HREBESLERIFE HA
from continuing operations (E8|) B F (57,077) 4,090
Discontinued operations BRIEEEE
Loss for the year/period from REABRIECEERZE )/
discontinued operations BN E B 13 - (8,358)
Loss for the year/period F/HRER (57,077) (4,268)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REREREMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
BZZT-=%F
BZE —H—HB®=E
—E-RE T MF
=RA=+—H =A=+—H
IEFE 1FHARS
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &t FET FHEIT
Other comprehensive Hit2m (B%) WEH
(expense)/income
Item that may be reclassified HERBEEF DB
subsequently to profit or loss: EH
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBFEE ZER
translation of foreign operations =& (86) (2,065)
Items that will not be reclassified BEETEET S EEm.Z
subsequently to profit or loss: EH
Revaluation of property, HREREMEREHYE
plant and equipment upon B Kk &iE
transfer to investment properties - 37,607
Deferred tax debited to asset REEEGHREBEMNKR 2
revaluation reserve EIER IR - (9,402)
Other comprehensive E/HANEMEZE (X)),
(expense)/income for I 2=
the year/period (86) 26,140
Total comprehensive (expense)/ & /HAZ2HE (X)W
income for the year/period #HEE (57,163) 21,872
Loss for the year/period attribute to: LA~ A T FEIEF AR EIE
Owners of the Company ZiN/NESTE SN (57,031) (693)
Non-controlling interests PR R = (46) (3,575)
(57,077) (4,268)
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REREREMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
B_ZE_=%F
Bz —H—HBE=E
—E-HF —TmEF
=A=+-B =A=+—8H
IEFEE 1-HA R
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt it FET FiET
Total comprehensive (expense)/ ULTALTEEZE (FAX)/
income attributable to: & CE
— Owners of the Company - WNEIE Z=N (57,117) 25,288
- Non-controlling interests —FEE R (46) (3,416)
(57,163) 21,872
(Loss)/earnings per share T (B8 B
Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR EE (E1)
— For loss for the year/period —F HANEIER 17 (8.10) (0.10)
— For (loss)/profit from continuing —F AN RERBELCEER
operations for the year/period z (E18) /a5 17 (8.10) 0.70
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR IR R &R

As at 31 March 2025 R—ZE-_HFE=A=+—8H

2025 2024
—E-FHE —E-NE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k23 FET FHEIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment V¥ BB k& 18 10,256 7,483
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 8,476 18,040
Investment properties WEME 20 35,288 44,781
Interests in joint ventures REETLEMNEE 21 - S
Loan receivables JE U B R 25 = 657
54,020 70,961
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories F& 26 60,467 20,570
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H b R 3R 27 72,734 142,828
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFAEBRZZ
through profit or loss TREE 22 2,094 3,893
Contract assets BEHNEE 28 1,997 4,485
Cash and cash equivalents RekERBLER 29 26,306 75,195
163,598 246,971
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 N E A BR K 30 68,451 80,805
Contract liabilities aHaE 31 7,125 42,565
Lease liabilities HEBE 19 2,911 6,876
Tax liabilities HEEE 28,421 28,752
Bank and other borrowings RIT R H MG 32 14,873 2,220
121,781 161,218
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 41,817 85,753
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEHBERRBEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 95,837 156,714
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a B RR &

As at 31 March 2025 R—ZE-hHF=A=+—H

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i aF FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBAEE
Bank and other borrowings HRIT R B A B K 32 4,280 =
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBAE 33 6,172 8,490
Lease liabilities HEAE 19 7,385 13,061
17,837 21,551
NET ASSETS EEFE 78,000 135,163
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARFE
Share capital LN 34 7,040 7,040
Reserves w1 72,688 129,798
Equity attributable to owners of KRNFEVEE AEh 2R
the Company 79,728 136,838
Non-controlling interests IR = (1,728) (1,675)
TOTAL EQUITY ERBE 78,000 135,163
Wang Li Feng Fan Xiaoling
FEE BN
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EZE EZE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RERERBER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

ARREAAREG 2 ER
Asset Non-
Share Share Capital Merger revaluation Translation  Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests Total

gE
BEx  RGEE EXRE  AHRRE  EREE EXRG  REEF B3 FERER BRR
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBFL ARBTL AREFL ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFT AREFZ

(note i (note i) (note iii) (note iv)

(Hiti) (Batii) (W) (Kiiv)

At 1 April 2024

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive expense
for the year
Exchange differences
arising on translation of
foreign operations

Total comprehensive
expense for the year

Change in non-controlling
interests due to capital
contribution by the owner

At 31 March 2025

R=B-MmF-A-A 7,040 5,438 - 680 28,205 117 95,358 136,838 (1,675) 135,163
FREE - - - - - - (57,031) (57,031) (46) (57,077)
FREMEZARY
BREENERFES
LERER
- - - - - (86) - (86) - (86)
FREARTHLE
- - - - - 86)  (57,031)  (57,117) (46) (57,163)

=A=t-AH 7,040 5,438* 7* 680* 28,205% 31* 38,327* 79,728 (1,728) 78,000
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RERERBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2025 i ZE T -_HAF =A=+—HILFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

ARNEEANEG B

Asset Non-
Share Share Merger  revaluation  Translation Retained controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests Total
BE
BE  BHEE AHEE EHRE EARE  REEA wi FnRER R

RMB000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000
ANREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
(note i) (note i) (note iv)

(Bati)  (Wdii) (W)

At 1 January 2023 W-B-=Zf¥-A-H 7,040 5,438 680 = 2,432 96,051 111,641 2,974 114,615
Loss for the period HAESR - - - S = (693) (693) (3,575) (4,268)
Other comprehensive HNEmRERE/

income/(expense) (A%)

for the period
Exchange differences BEBNEBR
arising on translation of EECERER

foreign operations - - - - (2,224) - (2,224) 159 (2,065)
Revaluation of property, ERERENER

plant and equipment EENE -BER

upon transfer to B

investment properties - - - 37,607 - - 37,607 - 37,607
Deferred tax debited to REEEEREE

asset revaluation reserve 1B 2 ERERHIE - = 5 (9,402) S S (9,402) = (9,402)

Total comprehensive #HR2ERS

income/(expense) for (Ax) @
the period . . S 28205 (2,224) (693) 25288 (3416) 21,872

Disposal of subsidiaries WK B LA

(note 37) (Hi##37) = = S = 91) - 91) (1,233) (1,324)
At 31 March 2024 RZB-mE
ZA=t+-8 7,040 5,438* 680" 28,205* 17* 95,358* 136,838 (1,675) 135,163
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of * REREBLEOREGEANERARTNGES LM
approximately HK$72,688,000 (31 March 2024: HK$129,798,000) in #H#72,688,0008 L (—E-_ME=/F=+—H:
the consolidated statement of financial position. 129,798,000/ 7T ) ©
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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On 3 June 2020, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with a placing agent pursuant to which the placing agent placed
64,000,000 placing shares at the placing price of a HK$0.1 per
placing share to certain independent places. The net proceeds from
the subscription is net of related issued costs and expenses.

The capital reserve represents gain or loss in non-controlling interests
arising from capital contribution by the owner.

The merger reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries acquired and
the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued for the
acquisition under the group reorganisation in 2001.

The asset revaluation reserve of the Group represents the gain on
revaluation of certain properties for own use of the Group as a result
of transfers of those properties for own use from properties, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to investment properties.

Byat -

RZEZEFANA=ZB - AQAHERERBETLE
EmE Bt BEERBRREESESTRESKGK0.1
TR T8 3 # L A B 55 64,000,000 % Bit & A 15 ©
REFERBFHECHBRABBRITRARMAS -

EARBEEBANIBEEEZHFERES 2 WER
&8

AR B A OF GBI PTUCRE B B X B A9 BR AN T B 2R AR
AR —_EE-FREEEABTHRBERMET
BANEERNZE-

FEBEEEMBEBEREEXSERYERAYE K
EREBAREREEEEREREMEMELN
AEBEETERMEEGRE-
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

China United Venture Investment Limited T E#HSIREGRE D T

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
BT =4
BE —A—HBHgg=z
—E"HEF —T_MF
=A=+-8B =A=+-8H
IEFE 1FHARS
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B &t FET FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES A S
(Loss)/profit before tax: KRR (E1E) R A
From continuing operations REREBEKEED (59,417) 3,351
From discontinued operation REEKIELEER 13 - (8,605)
Adjustments for: PUAT S IBEMEL A
Change in fair value of investment  BEME N FEEH
properties 20 9,428 4,767
Depreciation of property, plant and ¥ % ME LR EITE
equipment 18 4,810 4,100
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ AEEEFTE 19 3,067 8,944
Amortisation of other intangible H b & B 8
asset 23 - 297
Finance costs B SRR 10, 13 1,662 4,881
Interest income on bank deposits H|ITFERFE WA 7 (423) (515)
Interest income on loan FE W E A B A
receivables 7 (32) (26)
Dividend income from financial BRAFEFAEREZ
assets at fair value through SREEZREBA
profit or loss 7 (80) (145)
Write-off of property, plant and WeEE  BRE L&A
equipment 8 - 46
Gain on early termination of lease REKITHEE 2 WHE 8 (816) 71)
Gain on disposal of property, plant ~ HEWE  HE L& EHEN X
and equipment and right-of-use FTREEE W
assets 8 (50) (56,899)
Gain on disposal of an investment ~ HEREME 7 Wi
property 8 - (50)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB QR 2 Wam 37 - (13,225)
Impairment losses on financial and & @ R &N EE 2 ME
contract assets, net B EFRE 9, 13 4,697 576
Impairment of goodwill EESNEE 13 - 550
Impairment of other intangible HithmpEERE
assets 13 - 791
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEEREBE 13 - 301
Impairment losses of property, Y BEREEZRE
plant and equipment BB - 1,422
Provision/(reversal) of allowance FEBETR,(BE)
for inventories 15 297 (5,069)
Change in fair value of financial BEAFEFABRZ
assets at fair value through CMEEZANTFEES
profit or loss 13, 22 1,799 (1,941)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
BT _=%
Bz - H E Bz
—EZHF —EmOF
=BA=+—8 =A=+—H
IEFE 1FHARS
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &t FET FEIT
Operating cash flow before LEESEINCKERS
movements in working capital mE (35,058) (56,520)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories wE ( g, (40,194) 18,866
Decrease/(increase) in trade and 5 REMBBWIERTR LD,
other receivables (&) 66,043 (41,814)
Decrease in contract assets AHEERD 2,561 530
(Decrease)/increase in trade and f’f%&,ﬁ\ﬁﬂlﬁ“ﬁﬁﬁ ()~
other payables 340 (16,507) 17,551
(Decrease)/increase in contract BHERE CRL),
liabilities (35,440) 39,558
Cash used in operations KEFTAR S (58,595) (21,829)
Income tax paid BERER (356) (1,605)
NET CASH FLOWS USED IN REXBFAREREFH
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (58,951) (23,434)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEWR
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE BELRE
equipment (3,070) (5,950)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant $5& %% - ME LR EHRE
and equipment FIE 86 72,823
Proceeds from sale of an investment #4 6 #% & ¥ % F 18 2018
property - 6,000
Advance to a joint venture mM—EEELERRK (30) (13)
Interest received on bank deposits YW R 1T1F 2 FI B 423 515
Interest received on loan receivables Y E W & | B - 26
Net cash flow from disposal of LEWBARFME fﬁfﬁ
subsidiaries MmE R 37 - (21,498)
NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN)/ REER (FTA)
FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFREFHE (2,591) 51,903
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
BE_ZT_=%F
BE —HA—BHg=zx
—E_FE —T_MF
=A=+-8B =ZA=+—8~
ILFE LEEAR
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt F#ET FHET
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEXK
New bank borrowings raised FEEZIRITER 11,654 15,604
Repayments of bank borrowings IRITEER (2,158) (57,032)
Repayment of other borrowings E S RUE K (216) (13,378)
Interest paid for bank borrowings BT IRITERAE (170) (2,079)
Interest paid for other borrowings B A H A8 R E - (117)
Advance from a director RKE—REEZERK - 5,180
Repayment to a director A—BEEFEN (515) =
New other borrowing raised froman BH—ZBIYE=HEE
independent third party b {8 K 7,385 5,327
Repayment of other borrowing to a A — % Bl ;5 B8 H b &
related party - (2,188)
Dividends received from financial BEAFEGFAEBEZ
assets at fair value through profit SRVE ERIRAKRE
or loss 80 145
Repayment of principal portion of HEAaBEASHDER
lease liabilities (2,683) (8,526)
Interest paid for leases BEREERNE (708) (2,160)
NET CASH FLOWS FROM/ MEEBHRE (FFA)RE
(USED IN) FINANCING REFHE
ACTIVITIES 12,669 (59,224)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND REeERERRSEARD TR
CASH EQUIVALENTS (48,873) (30,755)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ®W—A—HZ2
AT 1 JANUARY ReREREESER 75,195 106,484
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE [E R &8 > &
RATE CHANGES (16) (534)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R=A=+—H2
AT 31 MARCH, REPRESENTED RERERABLER
BY BANK BALANCES AND USBRITHEBRASRT
CASH 29 26,306 75,195
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

GENERAL

China United Venture Investment Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and continued in Bermuda with limited liability. The
shares of the Company were listed on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The address of the registered office of the Company
is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and the principal place
of business in Hong Kong is at Room 2301-02,
23/F., Shanghai Industrial Investment Building, 48-62
Hennessy Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, changed from
Room 1801-1802, 18/F., Bank of America Tower, No.
12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong, effective from
30 May 2024.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding, and the principal activities of subsidiaries
are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
holding company and the ultimate holding company of
the Company are PT Design Group Holdings Limited
and Wise Thinker Holdings Limited respectively, which
are both incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). The functional currency of
the Company is United States dollars (‘USD”). As the
Company is listed in Hong Kong, the directors of the
Company consider that it is appropriate to present the
consolidated financial statements in HKS$.

—REHR

MEBAREARAB([ARF]R
ERSHEETMR LI RNABREFEZ
ERRAB -ARABNREEHERS
PTAR A RGEM LT -

AN A 5L B #% = B ik AClarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton
HM11, Bermuda FREBHNETEL =
HWEEHREAPREBRBI2HEXER
TH L 181E1801-1802E & F A B 5 &
T8 B 55 848-625% L /8 & ¥ KE231%
2301-02E BT -_WFHHA=TH
REAER o

ARFMEBLHARE R 1M E
ATMEELBRAGS I REM T
41 o

RARBIEERR ARalERAR K
BBRERRRDNANREBRELES
LA SZ WIPT Design Group Holdings
Limited Wise Thinker Holdings
Limited °

REMBHRRIIAET ([ET]) 25
ARBNEEBRXT(IXT]) &
REARBINEBFBELT ARAEZRE
RET2INGEAMBEHRREBIRE -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION

During the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March
2024, the reporting period end date of the Group
changed from 31 December to 31 March to align with
the new business, which enable the Company to report
its financial results in a timely and efficient manner to
reflect the evolvement of its businesses. Accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements for the year
cover a twelve-month period from 1 April 2024 to 31
March 2025. The corresponding comparative amounts
shown in the consolidated statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity, consolidated statement
of cash flows and related notes cover fifteen-month
period ended 31 March 2024 and therefore may not
be comparable with amounts shown for the current
period.

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for investment
properties and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) which have been measured at
fair value.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2025. A subsidiary is
an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group has: (i) the power over the
investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the
ability to use its power over the investee to affect
those returns.

China United Venture Investment Limited T E#HSIREGRE D T
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company has
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

WBEE (@
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R—REATHEESBREETKIE
HEZHE - WARBAERINKRES
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and translation
reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to other comprehensive income or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities.

Application of amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards for the first time, which are
effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on
1 April 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
(the “2020 Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

The application of these amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in the current year had no
material effect on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior periods and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

China United Venture Investment Limited T E#HSIREGRE D T
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2. mBLE X ()

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting EHEMAENKRERNHATETRMERS

Standards issued but not yet effective EHEHENREBUBEREEAS

£ B & ET &<

The Group has not early applied the following new and AEBTRIREERANULNTEBMERK

amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that ERE IR BB R EER 2 ER

have been issued but are not yet effective: EREBVERELEN ST EASET A

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in BEAVBHRE MBEBRENEY RIEES

Financial Statements?® AEBI| 85 185%
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public BERVB®RE WEARMEULONE
Accountability: Disclosures? AEBIZE 1957 UNEIRE 5

Amendments to Amendments to the BEAMBRE SRIASEEHEZ
HKFRS 9 and Classification and ZERIFK KR BRI R?

HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial BB
Instruments? HEANETHR
(1BETA)

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets BEABHRE REEREBERESE
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its ZEBI| 5 105% RAZHENEELSE
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture? kB s B

AEBI| 552857
(1BETA)

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability’ BAGITEL BRZAIEBRM

HKAS 21 F215%
(1BETA)

Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1, BEAPBHRE BB HREEREA
to HKFRS HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS HRlgTE S BV BmERE
Accounting 10 and HKAS 72 Al FE ek BIZE79% - BB W
Standards — %115 HERFOW - BB
Volume 11 B EERIE105% &

BB EAETR
(18R] A )2
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January L RZE-_AF—A—HRXZ2ERBANEE
2025 HARE A 2
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January g RZZEZAF—A—BRZERBRNFE
2026 HA R A R
3. Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 3 RZE+F-—A—BHAZEFRBRNFE
January 2027 R AR
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for g REETABRE A2 &FARNFERME
adoption 0
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued but not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standard
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in
HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present
specified categories and defined subtotals in the
statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some
HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and
HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement
of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earrnings per Share are
also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the new standard is expected to affect
the presentation of the statement of profit or loss
and disclosures in the future financial statements.
The Group is in the process of assessing the detailed
impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments
are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the
post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of joint ventures is included in profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in
joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of joint ventures
is included as part of the Group’s investments in joint
ventures.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.
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REELENRE

BELERBAERY Bl BZX
BHEEHAEVRNINNTHEAELE
MBFEEZAEMN RRAZHERRAE
MBES —RL A EANIES - HE
EERESHERZAEHEMTONIE
H—ERRABHRERFE -

AEENAELENRERBRESS
FRAEEREEFEEREMRERBRE
REEMBRRNKINK - HEFHEE
EEMA—BCAlgFEHERRAE - X
SERERLEMEERE D AEFTAR
THEBELCEUBREGELREME2EK
moltSh BEEENAELEMNEREP
BRAZHE MAKERGARRED
RERHEBGEEMES (WER) - AE
EREAECRETRIMELENKE
BEBEREH 2EUNAEERSE
TENRERR BHMAEREEER
FRBEEERERERIN - WERE
CEELANBERERMEFAKERGE
EREREN—HHD -

RXESOHREE

EBEHREBEINER - BRREDR
WEAHMZAFEFE ZAFE/N
SEEENEERNKE AR FE
AEBBWREBEIOAER ARENE
18 Fo 2 6 B 35 17 DA 4R BUAR W B8 07 45 R A
MR A EEHNEN -LEBEEBEHM
FEOARBEEENAFELHWKE S
Bl B BEFE M BAG B 5 BRI
B Z IR o SRR s 2 — 1)
HitpBo DA FEFE - KWBEHEBNX
AREERIIARMX -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§ 2024/25 69



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

70

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured
at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at the end of
the reporting period. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to
those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill
disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

3.

EREFHEHE@#)
EBEHREE(8)

NEERER AEBRRAREMN R
BEEBFE - WAEREHRIBERLE
ZAFEHETENE ISFRERE
HREETRENA AEESFRR
SRR B ETTRER 3R E R
AME REBAHEBNEEA KB
BEHESEEFERABLEHHRRER
B ASBERRCELBEUNBSES
BEUARN MAmAEEcEMEES
BERACHIRERFEMAENLMA
I

BMEBERETLEHEMBNRESES
B (ReELBUARN)OATEEEER
MEE - MRARSELBEU(REELE
A 5) B9 AT e @ & B K R BRI - B
ABEER-AHEMERNREERE
TeRERPMBE -

HWEERIEEXRSELEM (KR
TEEEMAR)  MZELANBLD X
BREE BRHEXEBEEOBER
REEHEZEBH RS HEBEFTA
ZEBREE - EEBRTRHEND
BREHEXBNAEEERRENR
CELBUNIFE-

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 4 3§ 2024/25 71



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. ERETHEHE@#)
Fair value measurement NEEFE

The Group measures its investment properties and
equity investments at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

AEBRSBRERARZRAFEFTEER
EMELRBERE - A FEARTEH
HME2EEMETNERFRRXZTHE
BEMBRSEREBEMIITHNER-
ATEFEDNERNLEEEREERAE
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B BEEXNBENAFEDENRMEZ
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BREMARTE) -

FeMEENDFEFEGT R —E™
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HRERZ NEBKEELETHMN
RAREFEAZEEERRERENS
—EMS2EEMEELKLBENENEES -

AEEFERERRTRABREAGRER

Tﬁﬁ%ﬁ(%ﬁ%ﬂ% FEMMBETTE A
EEFRARBEEGABBEREER

PERTABERGE AR

RUBBRRAEIWRELAFENFEER
ERAE ARBHQFEAEREM
EEEANRERMNBAEBE FNEAF
BERRNETOE:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in — - ERBEREELBERERT
active markets for identical assets or HBHmE (REAE)
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the F_Mm - EREAQAFEFEMSBEKX

lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the

MABRR(ERAME)KE
A5 ABURRBE TR

E=FH - ERNELAFEAEMEBERXR

lowest level input that is significant to the B A] B R R R AR Bl i A BUE
fair value measurement is unobservable RN EWSPrN
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for non-financial asset is
required, the asset’'s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with
the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(if) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(iff) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(0)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(i

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the
other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group; (If the Group is itself such a
plan) and the sponsoring employers of
the post-employment benefit plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit
or loss and in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal estimated useful lives and the
annual depreciation rates are as follows:

2%-3% or over the remaining
term of the relevant lease, if
shorter

Furniture and fixtures  20%-33%

Office equipment 20%-33%

Company equipment  20%-33%

Machinery 14%-20%

Motor vehicles 20%-30%

Buildings

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings (including right-of-use assets) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in profit or loss
in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in
the year of the retirement or disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner
occupied property becomes an investment property,
the Group accounts for such property in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” for owned property and/
or accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Right-of-use assets” for property
held as a right-of-use asset up to the date of change
in use, and any difference at that date between the
carrying amount and the fair value of the property is
accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with
HKAS 16 Property, plant and equipment.
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3.

78

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Customer relationship is stated at cost less any
impairment loss and is amortised on the straight-line
basis over its estimated useful lives of 1.5 years.

Lease

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases. The Group recognises lease liabilities
to make lease payments and right-of use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

@

(®)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 50 years
Buildings 2 to 10 years

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over
the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price
of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option
to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Lease (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion
of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification,
a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option
to purchase the underlying asset.

(c) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases
of office premises and staff quarters (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option).

The Group as a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each

of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Lease (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease term and
is included in other income in profit or loss due to
its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of the
financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised
cost and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are
met:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments) (Continued)

() Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method
of calculating the amortised cost of a debt
instrument and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period.

For financial assets, the effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts (including all fees and points
paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) excluding
expected credit losses (“ECL”), through the
expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is
the amount at which the financial asset is
measured at initial recognition minus the
principal repayments, plus the cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest method
of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any
loss allowance. The gross carrying amount
of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a
financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

84

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments) (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method
(Continued)

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for debt instruments
measured subsequently at amortised cost.
For financial assets other than purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss

and is included in the “Other income” line item
(note 7).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) are measured at
FVTPL. Specifically:

o Investments in equity instruments are classified
as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an
equity investment that is neither held for trading
nor a contingent consideration arising from a
business combination as at FVTOCI on initial
recognition.

° Debt instruments that do not meet the
amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria
are classified as at FVTPL. In addition, debt
instruments that meet either the amortised
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may be
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition
if such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would arise from measuring
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and
losses on them on different bases.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to
the extent they are not part of a designated hedging
relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “change in fair
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss” line item. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in note 39.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling it in the near term; or

° on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has evidence of a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is
a financial guarantee contract or a designated
and effective hedging instrument).

Impairment of financial assets and contract
assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
amortised cost. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these
assets are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balances or collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk for a
particular debtor, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor, or the
length of time or the extent to which the
fair value of a financial asset has been
less than its amortised cost;

° existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° significant increases in credit risk on
other financial instruments of the same
debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse

change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, i) the debtor has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and iii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

(i

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as
constituting an event of default for internal
credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet
either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial
covenants by the debtor; or

° information developed internally
or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

3.

EREFHEHE@#)

EHEERME (%)
(i) EEEBRHEEEN (&)

AEBEHRERERUBERNEER
RERREEMZEEREBN
I EE R ERERTABRZSE
T B AR FRIR B ) 2 A RS

(i)  EHNZTEE

FEBERBUTERARABEE
EREBRmMEBERENEN R
ARBELBRATENUNTEM
— IR R 2 B W R TR — R DR IR
[E] :

. BEBABRTHRE X

. P B 2 A 3 BN A S AR R
ZEBKRB - BEHATK
AEmERA(BRAE
B)2HER(TEEAE
BBz EMEFm) -

T Lt o REERR
TREERHBIB0RABEL -
BRIREEBEAREANEEHNETR
RERCENEEERAE A
1E Rl

ANNUAL REPORT 2024/25 £ $§ 2024/25 89



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

90

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market

for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

v)

Werite-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward
looking information. As for the exposure at
default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as
the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the original effective interest rate. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining
the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used
in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Leases.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. BEAREFEE @
Financial instruments (Continued) EWMI A (®)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERME (&)

92

v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance
for a financial instrument at an amount equal
to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period,
but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no
longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL
at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their
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carrying amount through a loss allowance o
account.
Derecognition of financial assets HRIBRLHEE

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity
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Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity SEER xﬁZTiﬁ‘%&HQZFIEEE ®
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity BT 2EERNTHSRBERRA
in accordance with the substance of the contractual TAZE %’“*ﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁ_ﬂfi/\ °

arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or
at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a
financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or
when the continuing involvement approach applies.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business combination,
2) held-for-trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, is recognised
in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

Financial assets and liabilities of the Group are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when,
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are calculated
using the first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value
of inventories represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise bank balances
and cash (i.e. cash on hand and demand deposits).
Cash equivalents are short-term (generally with
original maturity of three months or less), highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather for investment or other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents, as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-
term borrowings in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year/period. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax as reported in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit and at the time of the transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
are relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 /ncome Taxes requirements to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition due
to application of the initial recognition exemption.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision
to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the
date of remeasurement or modification.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a
variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not
occur when the associated uncertainty with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(a) Sale of connectively products

Revenue from the sale of connectively products
is recognised at the point in time when control
of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the connectively
products.

(b) Comprehensive architectural services

Revenue from the provision of comprehensive
architectural services is recognised over time,
using an input method to measure progress
towards complete satisfaction of the service,
because the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the asset is created or enhanced. The input
method recognises revenue based on the
proportion of the actual costs incurred relative
to the estimated total costs for satisfaction of
the comprehensive architectural services.

Claims to customers are amounts that the
Group seeks to collect from the customers
as reimbursement of costs and margins for
scope of works not included in the original
contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal in
the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value
method to estimate the amounts of claims
because this method best predicts the amount
of variable consideration to which the Group will
be entitled.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)
Other income

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as income in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis
using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably.

Tooling and sampling income is recognised when
the customer takes possession of and accepts the
products.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before being unconditionally entitled to
the consideration under the contract terms, a contract
asset is recognised for the earned consideration that is
conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the
accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.
They are reclassified to trade receivables when the
right to the consideration becomes unconditional.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).

Retirement benefits costs and termination
benefits

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the
offer of the termination benefit and when the entity
recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave in the period the related service is
rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the
related service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of Long service
payments under the Employment Ordinance is the
amounts of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their services in the current and
prior periods. The obligation is calculated using the
projected unit credit method and discounted to its
present value and after deducting the fair value of
any related assets, including those retirement scheme
benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as
the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Government grants (Continued)

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.

Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date
when fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign Currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year/
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving
loss of joint control over a joint arrangement that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of
the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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104

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4.

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that may have a
significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.

Revenue recognition from contract work

The management estimates the amount of foreseeable
losses or attributable profits of comprehensive
architectural design work based on the latest available
budgets of the contracts prepared by project team
with reference to the overall performance of each
contract work and the management’s best estimates
and judgements.

Due to the contracting nature of the business, revenue
recognition involves a significant degree of judgement.
Notwithstanding that the management reviews and
revises the estimates of contract costs for the contract
as the contract progresses, the actual outcome of
the contract in terms of its total costs may be higher
or lower than the estimates and this will affect the
revenue and profit recognised.

Provision of ECL for loan receivables, trade and
other receivables and contract assets

Except for debtors with significant outstanding
balances or credit-impaired which individually assessed
for ECL, the Group uses provision matrix to calculate
ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The
provision rates are based on internal credit ratings as
groupings of various debtors that have similar loss
patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group’s
historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4.

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of ECL for loan receivables, trade and
other receivables and contract assets (Continued)

At every reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered. Different
default rates are applied to the customers in different
businesses. In addition, trade receivables and contract
assets with significant balances and credit impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.

For loan receivables and other receivables, the Group
determines the ECL on an individual basis for each
debtor. The Group estimated the ECL based on
historical credit loss experience and forward-looking
information and an assessment of both the current as
well as the forecast conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate. At
each reporting period, the historical observed default
rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the Group’s loan
receivables, trade and other receivables, contract
assets and the ECL assessment are disclosed in notes
25, 27, 28 and 39(b) respectively.

Fair value of investment properties

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s investment
properties amounted to approximately of
HK$35,288,000 (2024: HK$44,781,000). The fair
value was based on valuations on these properties
conducted by independent qualified valuers using
property valuation techniques which involve certain
assumptions of market conditions. Favourable or
unfavourable changes to these assumptions would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties and corresponding adjustments
to the amount of gain or loss reported in profit or loss.
Further details of the fair value measurement of the
Group’s investment properties are set out in note 20.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4. A TRESE ZEERR (&)

106

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
in the case of value in use, the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the
recoverable amounts including cash flow projections
and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the assets belongs, including
allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established,
otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the
smallest group of cash generating units, for which
the relevant corporate assets have been allocated.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4.

UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets with carrying values of
approximately HK$10,256,000 and approximately
HK$8,476,000 (2024: HK$7,483,000 and
HK$18,040,000) respectively. No impairment loss on
property, plant and equipment was recognized for the
year ended to 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$362,000).

Net realisable value of inventories

Management reviews the condition of the inventories
of the Group and makes provision for obsolete and
slow-moving inventory items identified that are no
longer suitable for sale. Management estimates the net
realisable value for such inventories based primarily
on the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs of completion and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The
Group carries out an inventory review at the end of
each reporting period and makes provision for obsolete
and slow-moving items. As at 31 March 2025, the
carrying amounts of inventories were approximately
HK$60,467,000 (2024: HK$20,570,000), net of
impairment provision of HK$7,880,000 (2024:
HK$7,583,000).
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5. REVENUE

108

Revenue represents revenue arising on sales of goods,
and services contracts for the year/period. An analysis
of the Group’s revenue for the year/period from
continuing operations is as follows:

U]

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers

For the year ended 31 March 2025

WA

BARFER HEANBEER

m MR &

WEENRA-RATEFE BB K
KEREFELEEHOHRADITET

(i) PIHREFEHRA

BE_2_HAFf=ZA=t—-AHL

FRE
Contracts of
comprehensive
Connectivity architectural
products services Total
FHEE
ERER RBEH @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Revenue from contacts with EEEHRA
customers
Types of goods and services  ERRBHER
Sale of connectivity products HEEBEMR 163,654 - 163,654
Comprehensive architectural PEEERE
services - 1,286 1,286
Total gt 163,654 1,286 164,940
Geographical markets WENE
Korea % 14,892 - 14,892
PRC H 53,279 1,286 54,565
Japan AAR 29,357 - 29,357
USA ES 55,070 - 55,070
Taiwan = | 7,510 - 7,510
Others Hith 3,546 - 3,546
Total @t 163,654 1,286 164,940
Timing of revenue recognition Kl A FE 52 B #
At a point in time PR B 2 163,654 - 163,654
Over time BE RS ] - 1,286 1,286
Total st 163,654 1,286 164,940
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Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers (Continued)

For the period form 1 January 2023 to 31

March 2024

5.

WA (@)

(i) PIH/REEEHWA (4)

BE-_ZE_=ZF—H—B®E_ZF
ZME=A=+—BI-HH

Contracts of

comprehensive
Connectivity architectural
products services Total
2HESE
ERER R & 4 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Revenue from contacts with EEEHWA
customers
Types of goods and services  ERRBHER
Sale of connectivity products HEREER 206,357 = 206,357
Comprehensive architectural FHEERS
services - 2,212 2,212
Total @t 206,357 2,212 208,569
Geographical markets BT
Korea # 42,169 - 42,169
PRC F 23,785 2,212 25,997
Japan B 55,069 = 55,069
USA xH 71,342 - 71,342
Taiwan = 6,321 - 6,321
Others Hith 7,671 - 7,671
Total st 206,357 2,212 208,569
Timing of revenue recognition Yt A 78 5265 14
At a point in time N LR 206,357 = 206,357
Over time ¥ B 1 - 2,212 2,212
Total @t 206,357 2,212 208,569
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5.
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REVENUE (Continued)

(i) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

(a)

(b)

Sales of connectivity products

For trading of connectivity products,
the Group sells connectivity products to
original equipment manufacturer (‘OEM”)
customers and retail distributors.
Revenue is recognised when control of
the goods has transferred, being when
the goods have been delivered to the
specific location and confirmed by the
customers.

Contracts of comprehensive
architectural services

The Group provides comprehensive
architectural services to independent
contractors. Revenue from such services
are recognised when a performance
obligation is satisfied over time as the
Group’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance
completed to date. Revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation
using input method.

The Group’s service contracts include
payment schedules which require stage
payments over the design period once
certain specified milestones are reached.
The Group requires certain customers
to provide upfront deposits range from
10% to 30% of total contract sum, when
the Group receives a deposit before
comprehensive architectural service
commences, this will give rise to contract
liabilities at the start of a contract, until
the revenue recognised on the specific
contract exceeds the amount of the
deposit received.
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REVENUE (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

(b) Contracts of comprehensive
architectural services (Continued)

A contract asset, net of contract
liability related to the same contract,
is recognised over the period in which
the comprehensive architectural
services are performed representing the
Group’s right to consideration for the
services performed because the rights
are conditioned on the Group’s future
performance in achieving specified
milestones. The contract assets are
transferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional upon
meeting the billing milestones.

(c) Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

Contracts of comprehensive architectural
services are typically completed within
one year. As permitted under HKFRS 15,
the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Board of Directors of
the Company, being the chief operating decision
makers, for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on
types of goods or services delivered or provided. No
operating segments identified by the chief operating
decision makers have been aggregated in arriving at
the reportable segments of the Group.

Segment information reported internally for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment is analysed based on the class of
customers which is the same as information reported
to the chief operating decision makers.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under

HKFRS 8 are as follows:

1. Connectivity products
2. Contracts of comprehensive architectural
services

Segment revenue and results

For the year ended 31 March 2025

DRBAREE

ME AEEREBEFEVHREE
B A 2| O BT :

BE-E-_HF=A=+—HILEE

Connectivity

Contracts of
comprehensive
architectural

products services Total
E2EES
EBRER REEH @it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Segment revenue 2EWA 163,654 1,286 164,940
Segment result DEELE 1,073 (1,599) (526)
Other income Hip A 3,852
Other gains/(losses), net  H ks /(&8 ) F 58 1,723
Impairment losses on TREEHNEEZRE
financial and contract pispe il
assets, net 20
Change in fair value of BAFEHABRZSHE
financial assets at FVTPL ZE 2z AFEEZH (1,799)
Change in fair value of REMELRNTER
investment properties (9,428)
Corporate and other REAREMAAERE
unallocated expenses (53,259)
Loss before tax from SELEEBELE BT
continuing operations A& 18 (59,417)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER (m)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DEBMARES (&)
Other segment information Bt 5 & #
Contracts of
comprehensive
Connectivity architectural
products services Unallocated Total
2HEHER
ERER REEH A2E Foh
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Depreciation of property, plant  #1% - BiE KRBT E
and equipment 4,810 - - 4,810
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FREEENE
assets 3,067 - - 3,067
Impairment losses on financial 2@ RANEEZ
and contract assets, net REEEFE 3,576 1,141 (20) 4,697
Provision of allowance for BEREHR
inventories 297 - - 297
Finance costs IR A - - 1,662 1,662
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER (@)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DEBMARES (&)
For the period form 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024 BEZE=F—H—HBRBE-_FT-_MF
—A=+—B8It8ME
Contracts of
comprehensive
Connectivity architectural
products services Total
FHEE
EEE®D R & # et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Segment revenue 2 EB UL A 206,357 2,212 208,569
Segment result DEBHELE 2,763 (1,006) 1,757
Other income EH b A 4,077
Other gains/(losses), net  HibUzk ~(E518) FE 71,871
Impairment losses on TRNRENEEZRE
financial and contract E 1858
assets, net (77)
Change in fair value of BEATEFABRZEE
financial assets at FVTPL ~ BEZ AFEESH 1,988
Change in fair value of BREMEZ ATFEED
investment properties (4,767)
Corporate and other RAREMADEFAS
unallocated expenses (71,498)
Profit before tax from SEBICEEBEE
continuing operations BR 25 7 A 3,351
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

Other segment information

DEER (m)
DEBMARES (&)

Contracts of

comprehensive
Connectivity architectural
products services Unallocated Total
THEE
ERER RBEH A @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FET
Depreciation of property, plant  #1% - BiE KRBT E
and equipment 3,932 25 - 3,957
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FREEENE
assets 8,081 S 646 8,727
Impairment losses on financial £ & RAKHEEZRE
and contract assets, net BRFE 6 434 77 517
Impairment losses on property, #1% ~ HE & &
plant and equipment REEE - 362 = 362
Reversal of allowance for FERERD
inventories (5,089 - S (5,069)
Finance costs MBAA 2,150 - 2,467 4,617
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue ERH D BRAEREITELHN

generated from external customers. There were no
intersegment sales in the current period and prior year.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 3. Segment result represents the (loss)/profit
from each segment without allocation of other income,
unallocated other gains/(losses), net, unallocated
impairment losses on financial assets and contract
assets, net, change in fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL, change in fair value of investment properties,
finance costs, selling and distribution expenses and
unallocated administration expenses. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision
makers for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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6.

116

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

As at 31 March 2025

6. 2IHER @

THEERER

R-—E-_EF=H=+—H

Connectivity

Contracts of
comprehensive
architectural

products services Total
TEESE

Segment assets PEEE EREM BR¥EEH Bt

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FETT FETT

Segment assets DEHEE 148,768 7,513 156,281
Corporate and other REREMKRDEEE

unallocated assets 61,337

Total assets BEE 217,618

Segment liabilities PHEE

Segment liabilities nHEaRE 111,573 8,027 119,600
Corporate and other REREMRIEEE

unallocated liabilities 20,018

Total liabilities BAEE 139,618
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024

6. DEER (m)

PHMEEREE (&)
RZE-_WF+=-—A=+—H

Contracts of

comprehensive
Connectivity architectural
products services Total
PH RS
Segment assets DEEE ERER R &4 w@Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Segment assets DEEE 186,906 6,674 193,580
Corporate and other RAREMEADIEEE
unallocated assets 124,352
Total assets REE 317,932
Segment liabilities PEHEE
Segment liabilities nEBEE 102,388 5,789 108,177
Corporate and other NEIREMADEEE
unallocated liabilities 74,592
Total liabilities BEE 182,769
For the purpose of monitoring segment performances MERIBEERRDHEHEERM
and allocating resources between segments: =

- all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than unallocated corporate assets,
including unallocated property, plant and
equipment, unallocated right-of-use assets,
investment properties, financial assets at
FVTPL, unallocated loan receivables and other
receivables, and unallocated cash and cash
equivalent.

= all liabilities are allocated to operating
segments other than unallocated corporate
liabilities, including unallocated other payables,
unallocated lease liabilities, unallocated
tax liabilities, unallocated bank and other
borrowings and unallocated deferred tax
liabilities.

BADPERAEE (EBRADE
ME BEMEE ROBEEMRE
BE REWE RAVFESAR
SNEMEE KROEEKRER
REMEBEERERDERE R
FRREBEIIIN-FBEEEAD

[(PESE -1

- BROPERAEBE(BEARIE
HiENFE Ao EHERE
ANERBEEBE ROERTR
HMERARKRDEETEH AR
BN MERBEHUIREELED

#B e
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mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. 2EBER ()

HEER

Geographical information
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, the REBZEBURES - F =K
PRC and Taiwan.

BHAKREXRBIHBEPNBELLERE
BRANERTIREEFPOMELES
S -BBAKBRBEENEN DR
BEEMNMBEUESS -

Information about the Group’s revenue from continuing
operations from external customers is presented
based on the geographical location of the customers.
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is
presented based on the geographical location of the

118

assets.
Revenue from

external customers

REMFEF U A
Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
BE_ZE_=%F
BZE —H—BE=E
—E_FHF —EZMF
=A=+—-8B =H=+—8H
“FE LEEAR
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Korea i 14,892 42,169
PRC H 54,565 25,997
Japan H A 29,357 55,069
USA = 55,070 71,342
Taiwan =0 7,510 6,321
Others HAh 3,546 7,671
164,940 208,569
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mEMB|RHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information (Continued)

DEER (m)
HWEEHR (&)

Non-current assets

ERBEE
2025 2024
—E-RHE —EoE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
PRC s 47,621 54,447
Hong Kong A 6,137 15,857
Others HAity 262 =
54,020 70,304

Note:  Non-current assets exclude interests in joint ventures,
financial assets at FVTPL and loan receivables.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding year/

M ERBAETRERABLEMES BA
T ARENSREE RN ER -

FHREIXEFEFNESR
MESE /SHHEAAEEBKATR

period contributing over 10% of the total revenue of 10% A EvBFP AT
the Group are as follows:

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
B_ZT_=%F
BZE —A—BEE
g e 23 —EMF
=ZA=+—-B =A=+—H
WHFE 1E B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Company A ~EA 24,636 39,765
Company B’ A AB! N/A T & H 23,709
Company C! ~NEIC 27,631 22,281
Company D! A RD! N/A TiE H 32,393
Company E! NEII=L 17,115 N/A A3 F

U Revenue from sales of connectivity products.

N/A: Not disclosed as the revenue from such customers was less

than 10% of total revenue during the corresponding year/

period.

! KA HEERER WA -

TER: RTHRE RESZSEPRAERIERE
FEHEBKRART10% °
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

7.

120

OTHER INCOME 7. Haug A
Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
BE_ZT_=%F
Bz —H—BiE=E
—E-hF —T_mEF
=ZA=+—-B =A=+—H
ILEE LEHAfE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Interest income on bank deposits IRITHFRZF B WA 423 515
Interest income on loan receivables UL & 3k 2 | B U A 32 26
Rental income (note a) HEWA (Kita) 1,774 2,296
Government subsidies 0K T #58 Bh 174 366
Tooling and sampling THEREE 777 464
Dividend income from financial EAVFEFABREZ
assets at FVTPL TREEKRERA 80 145
Miscellaneous income HIEUWA 592 265
3,852 4,077
Notes: Hiat -
(a) Rental income arising from the operating leases of its (a) AEBKREMELLEHOEENHESBA

investment properties of the Group whole lease payment
were fixed. During the year ended 31 March 2025, the related

direct operating expenses incurred were approximately

HK$68,000 (2024: HK$51,000).

China United Venture Investment Limited T E#HSIREGRE D T
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mEMB|RHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

8. OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET 8. Hisz ~(E18) B8

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March

2025 2024
BT =4
BE —A—HRgz
—E-HEF —EMF
=A=+—-8B =ZA=+—H
ILFE L HAfE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net foreign exchange gains M 5N 555 5E 1,850 1,386
Write-off of property, plant and WEEME  BWER&E
equipment - (46)
Impairment losses on property, plant #1% - ME M & 2 REE 8
and equipment - (362)
Loss on disposal of defective HEBRPEERMNER
products (1,026) -
Gain on disposal of property, plant  HEWE - BE L& R FE B E
and equipment and right-of-use BEWEFRE (M)
assets, net (note) 50 56,899
Gain on early termination of lease RELRLEHEERS 816 71
Gain on disposal of an investment  H &R E Y E W
property - 50
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB QR W (#7737)
(note 37) - 13,225
Others HAh 33 286
1,723 71,509
Note: HaE -
During the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024, a wholly- R-ZBE-_=F—A—HE-ZE-_WF=ZA=+—H
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the land resumption HE ARR2EN B AR EEE LB
agreement with the Fogang Land Bureau for the resumption W(BEMBEREYRES)T L LB R
of land, including all buildings and fixtures, for net proceeds of BREF L A72,481,0007 T o + 1 U B U 2R
approximately HK$72,481,000. A net gain from the resumption of land BE#)57,654,0008 TR HE W2 - R E R K E
of approximately HK$57,654,000 were recorded under the gain on AREENKRZET ALK

disposal of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
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mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

9. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON FINANCIAL AND 9.

CONTRACT ASSETS, NET

ERRENEEZREBRER

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
BT _=%
BE —HA—BH®RZE
—E_REF —EMF
=AR=t—R =A=+—H
I“FE 1 HAMA
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Impairment losses recognised/ TS ERER,(BE) 8
(reversed) on: VERENEE
- Trade receivables — B P RUER 5,476 459
— Contract assets —EBHEE (73) (19)
— Loan receivables —EWE R (5) (454)
— Other receivables — H fib fE U BR 3R (701) 531
4,697 517
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. HIBR A
Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
B_T_=F%F
BZE —H—BE=E
—E_RE —T_MF
=ZA=+—-B =A=+—H
“FE LEEARS
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Interest expenses on TR EERF B
— Bank borrowings —RITEE 170 2,079
— Other borrowings —HiEE 412 388
- Lease liabilities (note 19) —-MHEBE (Hat19) 1,080 2,150
1,662 4,617
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mEMB|RHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 11. EERTETHRAEME
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the FE/HANEERETETHRABNFN
year/period, were as follows: JUI N
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-E-RE=A=+—HLEE
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Fees  other benefits contributions Total
BAREF
Be HeREMER BE-L:E @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2025 HZE-Z-f%
=ZR=t-HLEE
Executive directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Fan Xiaoling BANRRE 623 43 18 1,054
Non-executive directors: HHTEE:
Mr. Wang Li Feng' TBELE 1,560 546 - 2,106
Mr. Ni Xian Rk E - - - -
Independent non-executive B UIFHTEE
directors:
Mr. Sui Fu Xiang?* Eaw kg - - - -
Dr. Yan Ka Shing BakE 240 - - 240
Ms. Yeung Sumé BHZ L 120 - - 120
Mr. Zhang De An REZEE 105 - - 105
Ms. Lo Choi Ha EF¥EXZL - - - -
Total @at 2,648 959 18 3,625
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 i ZE T -_HAF =A=+—HILFE

11.

124

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11.

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the
year/period, were as follows:

Period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024

BEERTETHRAEME (@
FE/HNESRTEITHRA SR
M

B -_=Z=F—A—B®BE-_FT_OF
=RA=+—HILEM

Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme
Fees other benefits contributions Total
RIKEH
e HeRkEMET TR B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Period from 1 January 2023 B-Z-=%—F—H
to 31 March 2024 REZTNE
ZA=t—HItHME
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. Wang Li Feng' IHERE 1,920 2,474 - 4,394
Mr. Fan Xiaoling BNRRE 789 579 52 1,420
Non-executive directors: HHTEE:
Mr. Huang Bin® IR TS 433 - - 433
Mr. Ni Xian? {735 5 A2 750 - - 750
Independent non-executive B HHITEE -
directors:
Mr. Sui Fu Xiang?* BE o 4 55 A 300 - - 300
Dr. Yan Ka Shing BREE - - - -
Mr. Wu Lebin® R % 45 135 - - 135
Mr. Zhang De Ans RERFES 113 - - 113
Ms. Lo Choi Ha’ EXELL - - - -
Total @t 4,440 3,053 52 7,545
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mEMB|RHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EERITETHAEME (&)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

1 Re-designated as a non-executive director on 30 May 2024 L RZZEZWFRA=THRAETRIENITE
=
2 Re-designated as a non-executive director on 22 November g RZBEZ=F+—-—A=-+t-BRERFH
2023 TEE

Resigned on 13 March 2024
Resigned on 16 April 2024
Resigned on 24 July 2023
Appointed on 23 April 2023
Appointed on 28 March 2024
Appointed on 14 June 2024

RZT-_WEE=A+=A%T
AZZEZNEFEM A+ BT
RZEZ=FtA=-+HAHT
REZZEZ=FHWAZ+=HEZET
R-B-_NME=ZA-+N\BEZE
RZTZWENA+THAERT

B

P2

® N o o &
77

® N o a &

There was no arrangement under a director or F/OHRRNGTBESTREZETHRABAE
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any R ESREREEAMNE 2B
remuneration during the year/period.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 12. EIM&

The five highest paid employees during the year E@Wﬂ%?%%ﬂ@% ﬁfﬁ% (g%
included two (period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March ZT=EF—HA—HEEZZE-_NF=HA
2024: three) directors, details of whose emoluments —+—HILHE:-ZR)ES HilesF
are set out in note 11 above. The top five individuals’ BEALEXHFIEE - Faem R
emoluments excluding directors were as follows: UATHME (TEEES)WT:

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March

2025 2024

S ——

85 — H E BE

—E-RHE —ENF

=A=+—-8B =ZA=+—H

LEFEE LFERS

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FiET

Salaries and other benefits T RhEMEF 1,731 1,698
Retirement benefit scheme RORAEFET B 50

contributions 51 79

1,782 1,777
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

12.

13.

126

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued) 12. EI#M€ (@)
The number of non-director highest paid employees TN HEANFEESEEFHEE ZH
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is BT
as follow:
Number of employees
EE®A
Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
B-E-=%F
BE —HA—A®e=s
—E-RHE —E-PE
=AR=t—RB =A=+—H
IHFE LEEAFE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T 3 2
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 13. CORIEKEEE
Disposal of financial service business HE SRR K

On 24 March 2023, the Company and three
independent third parties have entered into sales and
purchase agreements to dispose their entire interest
in State Innovation Capital Limited and its subsidiaries
(“State Innovation Group”), State Venture Capital
Venture and its subsidiary (“State Venture Group”),
and Radiant Assets Management Limited (“Radiant
Assets”) respectively. State Innovation Group, State
Venture Group and Radiant Assets were engaged in
the financial services business. The Group decided to
cease its financial services operations due to a change
in senior management and the members of the Board
of Directors of the Company in charge of this business
segment.

The disposal of State Innovation Group, State Venture
Group and Radiant Assets were completed on 3
October 2023, 14 June 2023 and 14 June 2023
respectively, and were classified as discontinued
operations. With State Innovation Group, State
Venture Group and Radiant Assets being classified
as discontinued operations, the financial services
segment is no longer included in the note for operating
segment information.

China United Venture Investment Limited T E#HSIREGRE D T
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mEMB|RHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 13. CRILEKEER @)
Disposal of financial service business (Continued) HESRREEL (&)

The results of State Innovation Group, State Venture FERKER HERNBEERESE
Group and Radiant Assets for the period from 1 EB-_T-_=F—AF—HARBE=-ZT_/NO
January 2023 to 31 March 2024 are presented below: FZA=+—BHHEMEEZ5W T

Period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024
BE-E-_=-F—-A—AH
E2-E-_MEZA=1+—HEH

State State
Innovation Venture Radiant
Group Group Assets Total
mE M
Eike-E] HAsE e BE @ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Other income H g A 1 38 - 39
Impairment losses on financial 4 & & E R EEE
assets, net 3 (54) (5) - (59)
Change in fair value of financial &2 FEFALBEZ
assets at fair value through £ REEAFE
profit or loss & - - (47) (@7)
Impairment losses on property, #¥ - &= &
plant and equipment WEEE (1,059) (1) - (1,060)
Impairment of right-of-use FREEERE
assets (301) - - (301)
Impairment of other intangible  E & & E &
asset S (791) S (791)
Impairment of goodwil HERE - (550) - (550)
Administrative expenses THHAX (2,216) (8,354) 2) (5,572)
Finance costs MBAA (132) (132) - (264)
Loss before tax from RECHIEELES
discontinued operations ZBREAIBE (3,761) (4,795) (49) (8,605)
Income tax credit MEHES = 247 = 247
Loss for the period from REERILBEE
discontinued operations ZHANER (8,358)
Loss from the discontinued AT ATEERE
operations attributable to: BRIEEEEB 2
BB
Owners of the Company KAGEARA (5,660)
Non-controlling interests s (2,698)
(8,358)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 i ZE T -_HAF =A=+—HILFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 13. BRLEREELK (@)
Disposal of financial service business (Continued) HESRREER (&)
The net cash flows incurred by State Innovation Group, NERKREE FERBEEERKSE
State Venture Group, Radiant Assets are as follows: EFMEENBEEREFEOT

Period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024
BZZ-_=%—-A—-H&E
2T -NEZA=1+—HEH

State State
Innovation Venture Radiant
Group Group Assets Total
M ik

HiREE BREE heBE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FHET FHET
Operating activities BEED (68) (1,399) 998 (469)
Investing activities REED (1,201) - - (1,201)
Financing activities BEEH (10,056) - - (10,056)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be ORd) /RAFE (11,325) (1,399) 998 (11,726)
Period from

1 January 2023

to 31 March

2024

== ——c

—HA—HEZE

—ZE-MEF

=HA=+—8H

HA

Loss per share: TR

Basic and diluted, from discontinued REERIEEEXEB2EARAR (HK0.80 cents
operations BEEEe A
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mEMB|RHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 13. BRLEREELK (@)
Disposal of financial service business (Continued) HESRREER (5)
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share RADKIEREXEH 2 BRERNREE
from discontinued operations are based on: EEBRBEUTRE
Period from
1 January 2023
to 31 March
2024
AT =4
—A—B#Ez
—EF
=A=+—H
A
HK$’000
Loss attributable to owners of the Company ARBHEEAEGHRBEE LRI
from the discontinued operations (note 17) R 2 BB (HiF17) 5,660
‘000
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in  FAR T E SRR E AR KB BB AR
issue during the period used in the basic and B #717 & BE M INEFEHH
diluted loss per share calculation (note 17) (HiaE17) 704,000
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mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

14.

INCOME TAX CREDIT 14. FiSHESR
Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
AT =4
BZE —H—BiE=E
—E-RHEF —EMF
=A=+—-8B =ZA=+—H
IEFE 2R
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FiET
Current tax: EHIBIE
Hong Kong B - -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (‘EIT")  HEI®EMSH
(IEEMBH]) 25 65
Deferred taxation EET IR (2,365) (804)
Income tax credit for the year/period XK EHERLLEB 2 ERN,/
from continuing operations HAFERER (2,340) (739)
Income tax credit for the year/period REBRILCEEBIFRN,/
from discontinued operations HRNATEHRIKE - (247)
Total et (2,340) (986)

The amount mainly represents current tax expense on
assessable profits arising in the PRC and is calculated
at the rates prevailing in the PRC. The Company’s
subsidiaries operating in the PRC are subject to
enterprise income tax in the PRC. The applicable
enterprise income tax rate of the PRC is 25% in
accordance with the relevant income tax law and
regulations in the PRC for both years, except for those

subsidiaries described below.
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mEMB|RHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

Certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC fall within
the Preferential Corporate Income Tax Catalogue in
the specific zone. According to Cai Shui (2014) No.26,
qualified companies in Qianhai Shenzhen-Hong Kong
Modern Service Industry Cooperation Zone are granted
for a reduced enterprise income tax rate of 15% during
the period from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2020
and further granted for a reduced enterprise income
tax rate of 15% starting from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2025.

Also, certain subsidiaries operating in the PRC were
accredited as “Cultural Innovation Enterprise” by
the local tax authorities and were registered with
the local tax authorities to be eligible to the reduced
15% enterprise income tax rate for a period of four
years from 2017 to 2021 inclusive and further granted
enterprise income tax rate of 15% starting from 1
January 2021 to 31 December 2025. As a result, the
tax rate of 15% is used to calculate the amount of
current taxation.

Subsidiaries operating in the PRC were subject to
preferential tax treatments. According to the Enterprise
Income Tax Law (F#E AR LB EATFSFE) and
the Implementation of the Enterprise Income Tax Law
of the PRC (F#ZE AR LB HEFTEHIEE M IEH),
an entity eligible as a Small Low-profit Enterprise (/)
AR R %) is subject to preferential tax treatments.
From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2024, a Small
Low-profit Enterprise with annual taxable income not
more than Renminbi (“RMB”) 1,000,000 is subject to
Enterprise Income Tax calculated at 25% of its taxable
income at a tax rate of 20%. During the reporting
period, a subsidiary of the Group is eligible as a Small
Low-profit Enterprise and is subject to the relevant
preferential tax treatments.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made in the consolidated financial statements as there
are no assessable profits for the year ended 31 March
2025 and period ended 31 March 2024.

14.

EHER @

EHRRELEZETHBEBRARFTARETEH
EAEMESHERESEF - RETH
(2014) 265 AT RBERRRBEEESE
BHABERAGR _ZEZ—NE—HA—H
2T -_FTF+_A=+—HHBERTFT
15%RBAETEMBSHRBEER IR ZF
—_—#—F—RBE-_Z-_HAE+=H~
=+ HE—FTETI5%HNRMEDEMN
BRI E.

N NP EEENE THBRARES
HMBEBREARER [ XXLAIFIE] B
REMRBEEEESL IR —tF
2T F (PEERERT)HEZE
B1I5%M B AT EMESHME - ERZ
E-_—4%—fF—BE-_ZE-_A%+-A
—t+—HE—TERISHHDEMEH
ME-H  15%2METRARGTEE
HMIE &5

RAEEENHRBAREZARBER-
BEFEAREAMBLEEMGSHRER
FEAREMBECEMSHEE EIE
Bl - EERERNIMACENERE
BEMBEE BT -=F—H—H&
E_E_MNMFF+_A=Z=+—HB FE
ERBBRATEBARE (TARE])
1,000,0007T &9 /)N B i ) 1 25 - H3225%
ERMIMATENDERSR XA
20% - RMEHHE ANEBMB LRSS
BRIERNDIMATE ZHEHBHRBE
BHE-

HREBEE-_T-_RAF=-A=+—HLHF
ERBE_T-_NF=-A=-+—HIH
M EERFE LN MY EREETB
WMERFTIRB BRI ST -
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mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

14. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 14.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at
the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Income tax credit for the year/period can be reconciled
to the (loss)/profit before tax per the consolidated
statement of profit or loss as follows:

EHERE @

REMADEERELNHIATIIRIEEHA
AEEARITHEH -

FA/BARGHRESATREABERR
MEERB A (B8R SRAERMAT

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
B_ZT_=%F
Bz —H—BE=E
—E_RE —ET_MF
=A=+—-8B =A=+—H
IEFEE HA R
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
(Loss)/profit before tax from REFELEES 2 RELR
continuing operations (E518) % F (59,417) 3,351
Loss before tax from discontinued BB ILELEK 2 BRBA
operations (note 13) B8 (HiE13) - (8,605)
(59,417) (5,254)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate  JABI R AT 18 18 15 R25%51 & 2
of 25% Tia (14,854) (1,314)
Tax effect of income not taxable for FFHBEM S BERFKA Z T
tax purpose wa (200) (18,450)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible FAFLE M 5 Al H1F 2 B = B
for tax purpose wE 1,328 5,850
Tax effect of tax losses not RERRBEBBE BB E
recognised 6,175 7,313
Income tax at concessionary rate HEEMETFEZMEH (101) (251)
Effect of different tax rates of REMAEERLELHNHEB R A
subsidiaries operating in other TRBERNZE
jurisdictions 5,312 5,866
Income tax credit for the year/period R H A TSR IR (2,340) (986)
Income tax credit from continuing REFELEEBZMSHIER
operations (2,340) (739)
Income tax credit from discontinued R E B IFEE XG2S/
operations (note 13) B (Hit13) - (247)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

15. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 15. BRBIAT (B58) %A

REFELEXEB KRB (BB, 4
MM/ (A AT EIERER:

(Loss)/profit before tax from continuing operations is
arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
(S ——
Bz - H E Bz
—E-HF —EZOF
=A=+-8B =ZA=+—H
IEEE 1FHARS
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Continuing operations BELSEER
Directors’ remuneration (note 11) EF5Me (Watr11) 3,625 7,545
Other staff costs =N
— Salaries and other benefits —FHe hEMER 47,459 56,837
- Retirement benefits scheme —iRIREFET 8 H K
contributions 5,458 10,865
Total staff costs BT A 56,542 75,247
Auditor’s remuneration 2% S Bl & 1,150 1,150
Cost of inventories FERA 151,203 175,114
Depreciation of e
— Property, plant and equipment —ME - -BEREE 4,810 3,957
- Right-of-use assets — R é% 3,067 8,725
Rental expenses for short-term leases &2 HiFH Ef & X 491 126
Provision/(reversal) of allowance for 77 & & #=tiE, /(@) *
inventories® 297 (5,069)

The provision/(reversal) of allowance for inventories for

the year/period are included in cost of sales and services
rendered in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.

FRH R 77 E R B (BB E A
ARE B e RE M E B YW e & 0 15 & R 12

HIRTE KA
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

16. DIVIDENDS 16. RKRE
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year REEzE-_ZT_AF=ZA=Z=+—81t#F
ended 31 March 2025, nor has any dividend been E UTERSIKEZRNETHAHKRE B
proposed since the end of the year (period from 1 FRURTFEZZRAEAERE (BZ
January 2023 to 31 March 2024: HKS$Nil). E=F-HA-ARE-_ZT-_MF=AH

=+—BHIHE:EExT) -

17. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 17. B8R (E#R) EZF
The calculations of the basic and diluted (loss)/ ARG HEBAEBLRABFTELEEBLR
earnings per share from continuing and discontinued E%JJ:Z“‘%%%E’J#HX%$&§ET§ (/&
operations attributable to owners of the Company are B)/BRTIRELTE

based on the following:

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March

2025 2024
BT =%
BZE —H—BE=E
—EB-HE —ZTmE
=A=+—-8B =A=+—H
LHFE 1EHARS
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
(Loss)/earnings (B8 BT
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of FtETESFRERREE (FEB),/
the Company for the purpose of BFMERRRHEEA
basic and diluted (loss)/earnings EEREAT I (BER)
per share calculation: v )
From continuing operations REFELEED (57,031) 4,967
From discontinued operations REERIEEEER - (5,660)
(57,031) (693)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

17. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued) 17. S8R (EB) BA )

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March

2025 2024
BE_ZT_=%F
BZE —H—BiE=E
—ZE-HF —T_mEF
=ZA=+—-B =A=+—H
IEFE 1FHARS
‘000 ‘000
Fi F A&
Shares gh)
Weighted average number of ARFTESRERR
ordinary shares for the purpose of  E5& (J&18) &7
basic and diluted (loss)/earnings Y 3 A% N A 1
per share 704,000 704,000
No diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 HRBEE_T-_AF=-A=+—HLHF
March 2025 and the period ended 31 March 2024 ERBE_ZE_MNF=ZA=+—HIH
were presented as there were no potential ordinary MHYBEEBRTEEST AR WL EZ7T
shares outstanding in issue for the year ended 31 BHEZ-_AF-A=+—HLEEK
March 2025 and the period ended 31 March 2024. HE-_ZT-_WF=A=+—HBILHHE®
REERT -
The denominators used are the same as those detailed FiERAMs B EXMEFRARGTES
above for both basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per BEAREE (EBER) BF6n 348

share. [[ °
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 i ZE T -_HAF =A=+—HILFE

18.

136

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18. WX -BERRHE

Furniture
and Office Company Motor
Buildings fixtures  equipment  equipment  Machinery vehicles Total
EER BAR BAE N
BEN R®E EL ] EY ] HBRRE BHIA &t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$000
TET TET TAT TAT TAT AT TET
CosT RA
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=Z%-A-H 29,734 28,846 5,559 6,202 92,351 1,310 164,022
Additions hE - 1,818 2,243 175 1,714 - 5,950
Write-off s (130) (841) - (844) (402) - .217)
Disposals & (17,086) (974) 87) (164) (2,264) - (20,575)
Disposals of subsidiaries HERBAA
(note 37) (His7) - (1,199) &) - - (79) (1,277)
Transfer to investment ERZRENE
properties (49,190) - - - - - (49,190)
Revaluation of property, BRZRENER
plant and equipmentupon  EEDE BER
transfer to investment R
properties 37,607 - - - - - 37,607
Exchange realignment L (935) (176) (133) (123) (690) 7 (2,064)
At 31 March 2024 and RZZ-ME
1 April 2024 ZR=+-8k
“Z-MEMA-A = 27,474 7,579 5,266 90,709 1,228 132,256
Additions HE - 1,411 4,441 16 1,729 158 7,755
Disposals & - - - - (467) (45) (512)
Exchange realignment L - (21) (66) (4 (117) 4 (212)
At 31 March 2025 RZE_T%
=A=1-H = 28,864 11,954 5,278 91,854 1,337 139,287
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y% WMER:R®E #
(Continued)

Furniture
and Office Company Motor
Buildings fixtures  equipment  equipment  Machinery vehicles Total
EER BAR BAE Y|
BEN %8 EY ] EY ] HBRRE BHIR @t

HKS$O00  HKSUOO  HKSUOO  HKSO0O  HKSO00  HKSO0O  HK$0OO
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT AT TAT

ACCUMULATED ZHERAE

DEPRECIATION AND

IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=%-A-H 12,234 28,251 4,556 3,716 88,674 1,308 138,739
Provided for the period HREE 753 468 614 789 1476 - 4,100
Impairment HE - - - 362 - S 362
Write-off ks (85) (841) - (844) (401) - 2,17)
Disposals e (5,974) (938) (52) (99) (1,279) - (8,342)
Disposals of subsidiaries HERBAR

(note 37) (#it57) - (143) - - - (74) (217)
Transfer to investment ERZRENE

properties (6,387) - - - - - (6,387)
Exchange realignment ] (541) (74) (55) 91) (498) (52) (1,311)
At 31 March 2024 and RZZ-ME

1 April 2024 =R=+-8k

“$-MmEmA-A S 26,723 5,063 3,833 87,972 1,182 124,773
Provided for the year Frie - 465 1,706 830 1,760 49 4,810
Disposals & - - - - (420) (39) (459)
Exchange realignment EHRE - 9) 26) (1) (54) () (93)
At 31 March 2025 R_F_T%
=A=1-H = 27,179 6,743 4,662 89,258 1,189 129,031

NET CARRYING AMOUNT ~ REFE

At 31 March 2025 g 3

Zh=+-H = 1,685 5211 616 2,59 148 10,256
At 31 March 2024 RZE-ME

=B=1-8 = 751 2516 1433 2,737 46 7,483
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18.

138

Bt 35 AR MY RE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

With the poor segment performance of comprehensive
architectural services segment for the period from 1
January 2023 to 31 March 2024, the management
of the Group concluded there was indication for
impairment on the cash generating units (“CGUs”)
from comprehensive architectural services segment.
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been
determined based on value in use calculation. This
calculation uses cash flow projections based on the
financial budgets approved by the management of
the Group covering the 5-years period with a pre
tax discount rate of 11.21%. The terminal growth
rate used in the cash flow projections is 2.0%.
The assumption for revenue growth is based on
the expected completion period of the existing
projects and the expected project sum. Another key
assumption for the value in use calculation is gross
profit margin of 24.21%, which is determined based
on the CGUs’ past performance and management
expectations for the market development.

Based on the result of the assessment, the
management of the Group determined that the
recoverable amounts of the CGUs from comprehensive
architectural services segment are lower than
their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2024.
The impairment losses of CGUs represented by
comprehensive architectural services segment have
been allocated to property, plant and equipment.

No impairment loss (period from 1 January 2023 to
31 March 2024: HK$362,000) was recognised in
comprehensive architectural services segment during
the year ended 31 March 2025.
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18.

MR- BER&RE @

HREEEERBLITNR T Z_=F—
A—BRE-FE-_NF=A=+—HH
MO RBRBETE AEEEEER
Iﬁkﬁ%%“%mﬁiﬁiﬁu(ﬁﬁ
CELEBM])GFERETR -BeEL
BAUMABESBEEREBEFEREETE
ET - ZAEEANRESREERUAR
EEEREEMHAEANAFHMBAEEARE
WoBHMAAIRE B11.21% - IRERE
TERI & B AR ImIE R K 52.0% o A
HEMBEKNDERIBEER WEHTK
%ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁa >R ABEFED
—BRBRAEEFNE24.21% IR E
iﬁfﬁ?i@hﬂ’]ﬂ&%fﬁu& BESH™
BERNBHET -

REFHER AEBEEEETE N
“ECMFEF=ZA=+—H 2HEER
BomReELBMNAKESRHEE
REFEmE-2EEZERB D MARE
MBACELEVUNREBEEIREEY
ER N S

REBEEZZTE-_AF=-A=+—HILFE"
FHEERES XL EERETMRE
BE(BE-ZE-_=F—HA—B#£E_%Z
“WFE=A=+—H It #M : 362,000/5
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

19. LEASES 19. HE
(i) Right-of-use assets (i) ERAEEE

Buildings Land use rights Total
EEREEY T ERRE Foh
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=%—-A—H 18,142 4,442 22,584
Addition NE 11,498 - 11,498
Termination ik (1,750) - (1,750)
Disposal & - (3,691) (3,691)
Depreciation for the period HAE (8,816) (128) (8,944)
Transfer to investment properties ~ ERZHREYE - (497) (497)
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 37) HEMBER A (#1:237) (301) = (301)
Exchange realignment B 3 % (733) (126) (859)

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April RZZ-ME

2024 ZA=+-HK

“E-NFENA—H 18,040 - 18,040
Addition AE 2,097 - 2,097
Depreciation for the year FAHE (3,067) - (3,067
Termination Ak (8,543) - (8,543)
Exchange realignment R (51) - (51)
At 31 March 2025 R-_Z-_HF=A=+—-H 8,476 - 8,476

The Group leases various offices and factories.
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed
periods of two to ten years, but may have
extension options as described below.

AEEHEZRMRAERTIR:
HEAHNBEAMETFNEE
HiR - BRI BERA NXAT AT
HimEHE -
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19.

140

LEASES (Continued)
(i) Right-of-use assets (Continued)
Extension and termination options are included

in a number of property and equipment
leases across the Group. The extension and

19.

HE
(i) FREEE (&)
AEBRZYWERIHEHRES B

EERMRILBER-FIHAEL
EREILEERERSIKSEMIFE

termination options held are exercisable only by REBHBEAITE-
the Group and not by the respective lessor.
(i) Lease liabilities (i) HEaE

2025 2024
—E_REF —EOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current ik )] 2,911 6,876
Non-current FERE 7,385 13,061
10,296 19,937
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

19. LEASES (Continued) 19. #HE )
(i) Lease liabilities (Continued) (i) BHEEE#H)
2025 2024
—E-REF —ZEZOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amounts payable under lease HEBBETENSRE
liabilities

Within one year —FR 2,911 6,876
After one year but within two years —F&{EBRER 3,673 6,380
After two years but within five years MFERERER 1,979 5,195
Later than 5 years AF%& 1,733 1,486
10,296 19,937

Less: Amounts due for settlement B 12E A RNEBEER

within 12 months (shown FTE(RREaE

under current liabilities) BETHR) (2,911) (6,876)

Amounts due for settlement after 1218 A& B BB &5 E U 5KIR
12 months 7,385 13,061
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the BHE T _-_AF=ZA=+—8I1
Group entered into a number of new lease FE - AEERBEERFIVLSA
agreements in respect of renting buildings and THHEHEwZ YHAEEAEE
recognised lease liabilities of approximately #92,097,0008 T (BE=Z& ==
HK$2,097,000 (period from 1 January 2023 to F-—A—BEBE_ZT_NF=A
31 March 2024: HK$11,498,000). =+ — B8 :11,498,000/%

TT) °

The weighted average incremental rates applied ERAREEEEMMETHEE
to lease liabilities range from 2.54% to 12.65% FENF2.54%%F12.65% (B =
(period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024: T =F-—HA-—BREZ-ZT_/Q
range from 0.56% to 12.65%). FZAZ+T—HLEHE:NTF

0.56%%12.65% ) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

19. LEASES (Continued) 19. #HE ®
(iii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i) REECEZREMAZEKRERE
statement of profit or loss and other RS

comprehensive income

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March

2025 2024
B-T_=%
BE —A—HBg=z
—E-RHE —EC-E
=AR=t—RB =A=+—H
LFE 1EHARH
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

Depreciation charge of FRAEEEREER

right-of-use assets
Buildings EEREED 3,067 8,599
Land use rights & b A A - 128
Total st 3,067 8,727
Interest expense on lease liabilites & & EF| B X
(note 10) (K1zt10) 1,080 2,150
Expenses related to short-term leases £33 B3 1 & 18 B8 /9 51 2 491 126
(iv) Others (iv) Hft
During the year ended 31 March 2025, HE_Z-_RAF=-A=+—H1t
the total cash outflow for leases amount FE-HEMNRERLEBENAR
to approximately HK$3,883,000 (period 3,883,000 L (BE-ZE-=#
from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024: —A—BEZ-_Z-_NMF=A
HK$8,134,000). =+ —HILHE:8,134,000/8
TL) e
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REWHE
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—H—H 12,700
Disposall vk (5,950)
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 5 ¥ % - BB MR & 42,803
Transfer from right-of-use assets EEATREEE 497
Fair value loss, net NEEBEFE (4,767)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 8 B (502)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 MRZE-_MFE=RA=+—HK
ZE-_MFEMA—H 44,781
Fair value loss, net NEEEEFE (9,428)
Exchange realignment M 5 A (65)
At 31 March 2025 R_ZE-_AF=A=+—H 35,288
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties REBREMER_-_ZT_AF=H

at 31 March 2025 (2024: BMI Appraisals Limited
and Shenzhen Great Strategy Real Estate Appraisal
& Consulting Co., Ltd.* (RINITHEIKFthE T EE
FFEB R AR was determined based on valuations
carried out on those dates by Flagship Appraisals and
Consulting Limited, independent qualified professional
valuers not connected with the Group, and have the
appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the
valuation of similar properties in relevant locations.

The fair value was determined using income
capitalisation approach by capitalising the net rental
income of the property interests derived from the
existing tenancy agreements with due allowance for
the reversionary value. In this approach, the valuers
have considered the term yield and reversionary yield.
The term yield is used for capitalisation of the current
passing rental income as at the date of valuation whilst
the reversionary vyield is used to convert reversionary
rental income.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, their
highest and best use was considered to be their
current use.

*

English name for identification purpose only

=t+—HHRQ i@ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁé%%%
BEARAR(ZZE_NOF PMAR
AHEBERAAMARYTEREBE L
BENHARRQA) (REAKEYE
BENBYAERBEXMGEN BAB
BEERKOANEELESELUY X
EITHENER)NZFAPETHMG
BEE-

RFEDERBRABERCEETE A
KERBFHEHZNMERENFES
WABERL - WRFEEFLEE B -
REZFET HEMEZRFHERFX
K A8 57 W ok = o FF B3 o R AR A8
EEHNEMESKRAERNL MER
WERAARERERHEHS WA

EEHREMEO DT EN  EBAR
REREREARRAERR-

* HXEFEHRERT
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20.

144

Bt 35 AR MY RE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 20. REWE(m)
All of the Group’s property interests held under AEBFAEARBREASHERLEMIR
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital BRe2HERBEMERSTRATE
appreciation purposes are measured using the fair BXstE2 THoEAMARINEREY
value model and are classified and accounted for as E
investment properties.
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level FANE-—REEZ i&ZF'EinELW‘ 7R
2, or transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year EmEE-QGEAXREL AT ==
while the Group transferred the valuation of investment F-A-—HEBREZFTZNF=A=1+—
properties from level 2 into level 3 during the period AR AEBKBEENEREBEBS
from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024. TREBREE =L
An analysis of the Group’s investment properties that RUITHERBIZRAFEFEZAEEER
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair é ME(RBEATEFEBAZREZT
value, grouped into fair value hierarchy Levels 1 to 3 HERBRESARTEERE—ZF=4H)
based on the degree to which the inputs to fair value Z SATEAT
measurements is observable is as follows:
Fair value as at
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 31 March 2025
R=-B-5f§
ZA=+-H
£-4 E-R E=K ZDTE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
Commercial property unit UREEZHANE
located in Hong Kong BAL - - 5,300 5,300
Industrial property unit located i R E 7 TE%%
in PRC By - - 29,988 29,988
- - 35,288 35,288
Fair value as at
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 31 March 2024
“EoME
_ﬂ +—A
F—1& i F=R ZATE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET
Commercial property unit fIREEzBAME
located in Hong Kong B = = 5,200 5,200
Industrial property unit located IR Ez TEME
in PRC B - - 39,581 39,581
- - 44,781 44,781
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 20. REWME (&)
Relationship
Fair value of key inputs
as at Significant and significant
Fair value 31 March  Valuation technique  unobservable unobservable
hierarchy 2025 and key inputs inputs Range inputs to fair value
R-ZE=-1
E=f TEBABER
=+-B fEEHR EXFUBE EXFABEHA
AFERR ZOTE TEGAEE BARE BB HBRATENHE
HK$'000
FET
Commercial property unit  Level 3 5,300 Income approach Reversionary yield 3.9%  The higher the
located in Hong Kong - by reference to reversionary yield,
capitalized income the lower the fair
derived from existing value
tenancies and the Term yield 3.4%  The higher the term
reversionary value of yield, the lower the
the properties fair value
AR EBOEENE =& BAE-B2ZHER ERREX ERNREES
B WFrEENER K ATEME
ARMENEGEE FHORX FHOGEESE
ATEME
Industrial property Level 3 29,988  Income approach Reversionary yield 5%  The higher the
located in PRC - by reference to reversionary yield,
capitalised income the lower the fair
derived from existing value
tenancies and the Term yield 4%  The higher the term
reversionary value of yield, the lower the
the properties fair value
NI 37)E 3 =& BAE-R2ZHER EHREX LGRS N
WFEENERK ATEBE
ARMENEGEE FHOHE FHRRENR -
ATEME
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 20. REWE (&)
Relationship
Fair value of key inputs
as at Significant and significant
Fair value 31 March  Valuation technique unobservable unobservable
hierarchy 2024 and key inputs inputs Range inputs to fair value
-
=R FERABER
RAVE =+-B fHERGR ERNIE - F BEXTABRHA
ER ZATE FERAHE BARRE $E HBEATENHRE
HK$'000
TET
Commercial property unit Level 3 5,200  Income approach Reversionary yield 3.5%  The higher the
located in Hong Kong - by reference to reversionary yield,
capitalized income the lower the fair
derived from existing value
tenancies and the ~ Term yield 3.5%  The higher the term
reversionary value of yield, the lower the
the properties fair value
AR EBNEENE E=& WNE-B2ZRER BHEREX ERNREES
B MFEENER K ATEME
ARMENEREE FHORX FHOREES
ATEME
Industrial property Level 3 39,581  Income approach Reversionary yield 6%  The higher the
located in PRC - by reference to reversionary yield,
capitalised income the lower the fair
derived from existing value
tenancies and the Term yield 6%  The higher the term

reversionary value of
the properties

fiRerEMTIENE  £=ZR BNE-BS2ERAH BRRAEX
NRELNER

ARNENEREE FHRHEX
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES REELENRKRE
2025 2024
—E-RE —EMF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRET FHET
Cost of investment in joint ventures RN & & ¥ MR ERK K 5 5

Share of post-acquisition profit and & {5 I 88 1% % 7| &

other comprehensive expense HEmzmEMAX (5) (5)
On 11 January 2017, PT Design International Limited RZE—tEF—HA+—H XxRAAE2E

(“PT Design International”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and an independent third party
entered into an agreement for the establishment of
PT & PL China, a Hong Kong incorporated company
with issued share capital of HK$10,000. PT Design
International subscribed for 5,100 ordinary shares
in PT & PL China, representing 51% of the entire
issued share capital. Upon the completion of the
capital contribution, the Group holds 51% equity
interest in PT & PL China. The Group has the right to
appoint one out of two voting directors in the Board
of Directors of PT & PL China in which the decisions
about the relevant activities of PT & PL China require
the unanimous consent of the director from both PT
Design International and the other shareholder. In this
regard, the investment in PT & PL China is accounted
for as joint venture of the Group. At the same time, PT
& PL China formed a wholly owned subsidiary in the
PRC, PT & PL Architectural Design. Hence, the Group
indirectly owned 51% equity interest in this company.

W%@T*EI/TZ?E&LJ. AR DA ([
ERETEER] BB FE =R ILIRE
mR(FE) (—AREBTMR L2
A 2 BT A10,000% 7T ) 7] 3L 1
FoMBERTERERERERMN(PE)
B5, 100 F @A - (h 2 # 2 FEITRAE
51% TR FE R A& BB EME®
WRE) 51 %R E - AEBBEEZER
B (R EESRMBHARRE
WEFZ - HPB@EHMERM(FER)
EEEBORRAGINERTRERE
EREMBRE-—HBEE UL RAEE
uu¢$(qﬂ.)ﬂﬁ¢x§LA7TKElA’§ EA
Re-BR -HERKR(RE)EFRBEXZ
TE2EWNBARMERMN (LE)BRER
oAb AR EEEREEZ ARSI %M
PR HE -
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21.

148

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group had

interests in the following material joint ventures:

21. RE1

i
BHA&

/|

I -

TEMNKRE (@)

AFER T -_NMFEF=/=+—

BRTINERAELCXERE

Principal Proportion of Proportion of
Form of Place of place of Class of ownership interest voting rights held
Name of entity entity  incorporation business  shares held held by the Group by the Group Principal activity
BBER BERS HEMAUBE  TETEXSE SERGEE AKEASCEREERLA REEfH2RAELS TEER
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2025 2024 2025 2024
- ¥ -3 —E-omE S %3 —EoRE
=B=t-AB =A=+-B =A=+-R =A=t-H
PT & PL China (fiB@#  LLC Hong Kong Hong Kong ~ Ordinary 51% 51% 50% 50%  Provision of
(FE)ERAR) comprehensive
architectural
services
HERM (PE) BREfE &R BiE Lk RELERERS
Af
PT & PL Architectural LLC PRC PRC Ordinary 51% 51% 50% 50%  Provision of
Design* (AE & comprehensive
(LB BERHEAER architectural
NG services
HERM (L8 BERG BREFE +HE HE Lk RELERERS
Af
* English name for identification purpose only * RXEHEHRZRE
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The summarised financial information in respect of the
Group’s joint ventures that is material to the Group

21.

REBLENERE (8

ERBAEEME BEALRKAERE
ARZAEBARECE U BERBE

and are accounted for using equity method is set out YW o
below.
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-MF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
PT & PL China HMERM (FE)
Current assets MENEE 36,772 37,037
Non current assets ERBEE 43 203
Current liabilities mEAE (41,885) (39,931)
Net liabilities BEFE (5,070) (2,691)
Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
BEZT-=F
Bz —H—BE=E
—E_FHEF —E_MF
=A=+-B =A=+—~H
IEFE =1
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Revenue A 3,824 8,441
Loss for the year/period FREANEE (2,439) (2,213)
Other comprehensive income Hih 2w M= 60 76
Total comprehensive expense PEMASBE (2,379) (2,137)
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21. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 21.

The reconciliation of the above summarised financial

REELXENRE @)

PR HEENBERARSELENESR

information presented above to the carrying amount of ZIEEEECHERNT
the interests in the joint ventures are set out as below:
2025 2024
—E-REF —E - OF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net liabilities of the joint ventures BETCECZEBETE (5,070) (2,691)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEERHERMA (FEH) 2
interest in PT & PL China HEEEER D 51% 51%
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEEBRAERN (FE) 2
interest in PT & PL China sz BREE - =
The Group has stopped recognising its share of losses AEBRERAERZNDKRIEBREE

of the joint ventures when applying the equity method.
The unrecognised share of the joint ventures, both for
the year/period and cumulatively, are set out below:

HEBELENBRE-AFE HHEKR
AARBREEEECROEHIIMT

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
S ——
BZE — H E HEE
—E-EF —E-UF
=A=+—-HB =A=+-—H
LHFE 1FHARS
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Unrecognised share of losses of KNEE B RFEREDN

joint ventures for the year/period AEMLEEE 1,213 1,090
2025 2024
—E-RE —TmEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Accumulated unrecognised share of ZitKEREEASEDLEERE
losses of joint ventures 2,585 1,372
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 22.

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

mEMB|RHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

BRAFEFABERSZEHEE

2025 2024
—E-HEF —EOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets measured at FVTPL: &2 A FEFTABZFTEZ
Current B
Listed securities held for trading: BEEBEZ LMHES:
- Equity securities listed in —REBEMZBA
Hong Kong (note (i) BH (M) 2,094 3,893

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group held (i)
issued share capital of Precious Dragon Technology Holdings

Limited (“Precious Dragon”).

and received during the year ended 31 March 2025 and
period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024. During
the year ended 31 March 2025, the fair value loss of such
investments is approximately HK$1,799,000 (2024: fair value
gain HK$1,988,000) has been recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
As at 31 March 2025, the market value of the investment
in the shares of Precious Dragon was approximately

HK$2,094,000 (2024: HK$3,893,000).

No dividend was declared

By it -

BHE_T-_—F+-_A=Z+—HLEE XK
SEBEREENBERERAA ([RE
BIHNEBEBITRA-BHEZE-_T_AF=A
=+t HALtFEREBE=-Z=-=F—HA—H
BE-FT-_NE=ZA=+—HILHH #&
FEREKBEMRE REBEE-T_RF=
A=+—HALEE ZSHRENATEEE
#91,799,0008 L (=T =W F : A FE W=
1,988,000 L) ERmE B R EMER
WHRANER - R_E-_RAF=A=+—1"
PR E R B IR E T E 4 52,094,000
7t (—ZF — P94 : 3,893,000/8 7T ) °
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23.

24.

152

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET

23. HMEFREE

Customers
relationship
EFBRA
HK$’000
FET
cosT R
At 1 January 2023 R-ZE-_=4—AF—H 1,780
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 37) HEWB AT (#/:237) (1,780)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 and RZE-_MF=ZA=+—Ak=_F-_MF
31 March 2025 MA—BR-_BE-_RAF=A=+—H =
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION AND Rt RBEE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 R-_E-_=F—H—H 692
Provided for the period EHANEHR B 297
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 37) HEWB AR (H:237) (989)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 and R-E-_NMF=ZA=Z+—HEK-_ZT_NF
31 March 2025 MA—BER-_ZE-RAF=A=+—H -
NET CARRYING AMOUNT BREFE
At 31 March 2025 R-ZBE-_RE=RA=+—H -
At 31 March 2024 R-ZBE-_WNE=RA=+—H -
GOODWILL 24, HE
Financial
services
SRS
HK$’000
FET
Cost and net carrying amount RAREREFE
At 1 January 2023 R-—ZE-_=F—HF—H 550
Disposals of subsidiaries (note 37) HEMB QR (47:237) (550)

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 and
31 March 2025

R-ZTE-_ME=A=+—HE-ZT_-_MNF
MA—RAR-—E-_H&#=A=+—H
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LOAN RECEIVABLES 25. EWER
Effective
interest
Maturity date rate 2025 2024
ZHAAHA BERAE Z—ZB-RHFE _—_ZT_OF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
RMB600,000 fixed-rate loan 31 December 2025 5% 689 657
receivables
AR B600,0007T 7 £ E W E —E-_RF%+=A
=+—H
RMB40,000 fixed-rate loan receivables 30 March 2024 4% - 42
(note 27)
AR ®40,0007T 5 B U E K —E-WMFE=A="H
(Ki1at27)
689 699
Analysed as DA
Non-current e ED = 657
Current (note 27) B (HFE27) 689 42
689 699

Included in the carrying amount of loans receivables as
at 31 March 2025 is an accumulated impairment loss
of approximately HK$11,000 (2024: HK$16,000).

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note
39(b).

R-ZZE-_RAF=ZA=Z+—H EREX
FERMEESERFTAEEEL11,000%8
T (ZZFZP/NF: 16,0008 7T) °

B BB ER AR IE BN K E39(0)

INVENTORIES 26. K
2025 2024
—E-EHF —E-OF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Raw materials and consumables R L I OH FE G 5,282 6,347
Work in progress EETRE 5,696 5,409
Finished goods BUAK oh 49,489 8,814
60,467 20,570

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s inventories are approximately HK$60,467,000
(2024: HK$20,570,000), net of allowance of
approximately HK$7,880,000 (2024: HK$7,583,000).

RZEBE_RAF=ZA=Z+—8 *x5E
FEMNEREEYAE60,467,0000 T (=
T mEF: 20570000/9&571) 2 k&
BB #47,880,0008 T (2 W& :
7,583,000/ 7T ) ©
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27.

154

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. EZRHMEWERR
2025 2024
—E_REF —EOF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade receivables 2 5 IR R 45,311 38,497
Less: allowance for impairment of BB S RWRFURERE
trade receivables (17,117) (11,641)
28,194 26,856
Loan receivables (note a) EWER (K ita) 700 43
Less: allowance for impairment of B RN E FURBE R E
loan receivables (11) (1)
689 42
Prepayments (note b) AR RIE (B atb) 6,663 71,350
Refundable rental deposits REHEEERS 1,054 1,621
Value-added tax receivables JE W4 (B FX 434 1,261
Amount due from a joint venture e —fEE ERERIE (Hite)

(note c) 51 21
Bills receivables e 24,098 26,950
Others (note c) Etb (Hiite) 11,977 15,854

44,277 117,057
Less: allowance for impairment of — J& « E b & U BR FUR B B 5
other receivables (426) (1,127)
43,851 115,930
72,734 142,828
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the gross amount of trade
receivables arising from contracts with customers
amounted to approximately HK$45,311,000 (2024:
HK$38,497,000).

For the sales of connectivity products, the Group
allows an average credit period ranging from 15 to 120
days (2024: 15 to 120 days) to its trade customers.

As for the provision of comprehensive architectural
services, the Group does not have a standardised and
universal credit period granted to its customers. The
credit period granted to individual customer is within
90 days in general, which the Group considered on a
case-by-case basis, depending on the credibility and
reputation of the customers and as stipulated in the
project contract.

Notes:

(a) The carrying amount of approximately HK$689,000
(2024: HK$42,000) net of accumulated loss allowance of
approximately HK$11,000 (2024: HK$1,000) represents
the advance to independent third parties and expected to
be settled within 12 months. The amount is unsecured and
carries interest at 4% per annual (2024: 4% per annual).

(b) As at 31 March 2025,
HK$59,472,000) are amount made to acquire Supermicro
Servers from an independent third party and intended for
resale.

no prepayments (2024:

(c) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

27.

MEEEBRERME A&B4LTFTHE
SERPZFHEEHNT15E1208 (=
T - POE 1558 1208) o

REEHEEEZERBEME ASBEALE
MEEPETHREELS -—NEEH K
TEMNEFPHEEH - R/OAAR K
SERBEFPNEENBENRERS
MR ERERIBERE B -

By it -

(@) A [ {8 47689,0007% 7T ( —=Z = P9 4F : 42,000
B7T) (N RETEBEFEL11,00058 7T (=

T ZNE:1,00087T) )ERBIE=72
FoEHERI2EARNEE - ZSEAEIE
WRIRERRI% (BI04 4% )5t B -

(b) R-ZT-_AF=A=+—8 #H&(=

T Z PO 4 59,472,000/ 7T ) A — & B L

FZ I AHENFE AU ESUpermicro
Servers* B#t{EEE -

(©) HZERABER RERARBENREE-
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27.

28.

156

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 27.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
net of allowance for impairment of trade receivables,
presented based on the invoice dates, at the end of
the reporting period.

ESREMEWERTR &

ATRRBEHRREZAHEINE
2 EUWRR SR (N FR B 5 8 Wk FORU{E 7
1) B RRE D AT

2025 2024

—E-RE —E-F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

0-30 days 0E30H 14,607 23,606
31-120 days 312120H 10,012 3,150
121-180 days 121E180H 722 100
Over 180 days HBiB180H 2,853 =
28,194 26,856

Details of impairment assessment are set out in note
39(b).

B BB E R {480 F B R K E39(b) ©

s English name for identification purpose only * HXETE MBS
CONTRACT ASSETS 28. BHEE
31 March 31 March 1 January
2025 2024 2023
—E-RE —EomE —EC-=F
=A=+—-H =ZA=+—H —H—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FETT FET FAET
Contract assets arising THBERBEEZ
from comprehensive BREE
architectural services 2,027 4,588 5118
Less: allowance for B ANEERERE
impairment of
contract assets (30) (108) (122)
1,997 4,485 4,996
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CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 28. AHEE(®
The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right AHNEETEFBELAEEREEAK
to consideration for work completed and not billed AAEZEIRKBMARENESF REAB
because the rights are conditioned on the Group’s BREMERNANEERRE B B EK
future performance in achieving specified milestones at FHEERBEETEEBRHARRKRR -
the reporting date on the comprehensive architectural REBEFNKAEKRER AHEESE
services. The contract assets are transferred to trade BEBZRERRER -ANEEBEE R EZ
receivables when the rights become unconditional. BHARTEREE BeHNEEERERE
The Group typically transfer contract assets to trade BORWER - RBE-_ZT-_AF=H
receivables upon achieving the specified milestones in ZT+—HUEFE AHNEEKFEEREIE
the contracts. The level of contract assets remained BIBE -
relatively stable during the year ended 31 March 2025.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, approximately REBEE_ZTE-_AF=—A=+T—HLFE"
HK$30,000 (2024: HK$103,000) is recognised as #730,000/% 7T (=& — /0 £ : 103,000/
provision for expected credit losses on contract TERBENEETRHEEREREME -
assets. The Group trading terms and credit policy with AEEHEFIIVHNEBESKEARAREER
customers are disclosed in note 27 to the financial FRM SRR F27HE - BRI ET
statements. Details of impairment assessment are set 1 B 518 B A BT 3E39(b) ©
out in note 39(b).
The expected timing of recovery or settlement for RZEZRFRZFEZNMF=A=+—
contract assets as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 are as ArafEERRKREEERBNT
follows:
2025 2024
—E-hHF —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FiET
Within one year —FA 1,997 4,485
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 29. ReRERRLHEH

Cash and cash equivalent comprise bank balances of
HK$24,659,000 (2024: HK$61,937,000) at variable
interest rates with effective interest rates ranging from
0.01% to 0.10% (2024: 0.01% to 0.79%) per annum
and cash balances of HK$91,000 (2024: HK$312,000)
and short-term bank deposits with the original maturity
of three months or less of US$200,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,556,000) at fixed interest rates of 2.5% as at 31
March 2025 (2024: HK$12,946,000 at fixed interest
rates of 1.75% to 3.85%).

B RSRAEBELERRERTE
$#24,659,0008 0 (= ZT — /9 4 :
61,937,000/ 70) " B FEF K5 B -
BEBREFEFMENT0.01%E0.10% (==
ZUF0.01%E0.79% ) U R & 4
#:91,0008 7L (—Z — /M4 : 312,000
BLTIMAR - E_HAF=A=1+—HER
BHBA=ZEAKUATHERRITER
200,000 7T ( 48 71,556,000 7T ) °
BETEME25% B (ZF ZHF:
12,946,0008 7t ' = E E F E£1.75% %
3.85%:H8.) °
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29.

30.

158

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 20. HeREZRELHER (&)

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, ARBETTEBRABRAEME A

however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange 1B AR B A 2 SN E B R R f A BE -

Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, EERNEEFRERTE AEEEESER

and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange ERBEETHNEEHB ZRIT BARE

Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange HBREMEE AR XBRBING A

RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to <7 R B BRORT ) E B9 A B B R AR BN % A

conduct foreign exchange business. The conversion of Bl -

RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and

regulations of foreign exchange control established by

the PRC government.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 30. EZRHMEMSER

2025 2024
—E_RE —E_F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FAET

Trade payables (note a) B SREMNER (Hita) 34,177 30,675

Staff salaries and welfare payables &Rt 8 L¥# 4 Ki@H 15,351 17,018

Refundable rental deposits AREHERS - 37

Value-added tax and other tax BT R E D B AR IE

payables 689 441

Accrued operating expenses JEET I ER X 13,321 23,885

Amount due to a director (Note b) BN —ZZE EZE (H1itb) 4,875 5,390

Amount due to a related company BT — R EEEE R | B (W ite)

(note c) 5 359

Others EAh 33 3,000

68,451 80,805

Notes: HaE -

(@) Included in the amount of trade payables as at 31 March (@) R-ZZE-_AF=ZA=+HWNEZSENE
2025, approximately HK$734,000 (2024: HK$738,000) KE BT #734,00008 T (ZF - M4F:
represented the amount due to a related company — 738,000/ 7T ) A& FE (T BABE A Bl RS R E R
Architecture Design (Shenzhen) Company Limited (“PT FORIDERAT ([HERY])BKE-
Shenzhen”)* (FAERZEFREF ORI AR A F]). Mr. Wang ARAREERRETEELEERBFRY
Li Feng, a director and a shareholder of the Company has #AH23.07% (=T ZIU4 :23.07% ) M #5 K&
an indirect equity interest of 23.07% (2024: 23.07%) in PT ¥
Shenzhen.

(b) The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayment on (b) DB AEER 2ERAREREE-
demand.

@) The amount due to a related company — PT Shenzhen. Mr. () BB QRS RIRB - ARAES R

Wang Li Feng, a director and a shareholder of the Company
has an indirect equity interest of 23.07% (2024: 23.07%) in
PT Shenzhen. The amount is unsecured, interest free and
repayment on demand.

English name for identification purpose only

% 58 T & St £ B RYIEB23.07% (=
T F:23.07% ) EERE- ZCEAE
HH B RBREREE-

v EBXEFERBS
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 30, EZRHMEMSERR(®
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables LWTARBRERAREZEZAHPENNE
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the SRR RR DT -

reporting period.

2025 2024
—E-REF —E N4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 30 days 30HIA 10,307 9,446
31-90 days 31%290H 12,302 11,483
91-150 days 91%150H 2,527 1,057
Over 150 day HBi@150H 9,041 8,689
34,177 30,675
The Group has been granted an average credit period AEERMEFTERESHERGTZ
ranging from 30 to 150 days from its trade suppliers FHEEHN FI0E150H °
for both years.
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. AHAE
31 March 31 March 1 January
2025 2024 2023
—BTEHF —TomEF ZTEZ=F
=A=+-B =ZA=+—H —A—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FET FHEIT FHEIT
Sales of connectivity HEERE®
products 6,738 42,565 2,793
Provision of comprehensive 2t % M 2 £ iR 7
architectural services 387 - 214
Total st 7,125 42,565 3,007
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31.

160

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

The contract liabilities include (i) advances received
to deliver the connectivity products and (i) advances
received to render comprehensive architectural
services.

The decrease in contract liabilities in current year/
period was mainly due to the decrease in advances
received from customers in relation to deliver the
connectivity products.

The following table shows the amounts of the revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

31.

AEE/HEZAHNAERIETEHR
IRNEREMCHEFNBIRD

TRENNBREBVAAAGNEBERS]
RBEMMEXNNBEHNETERARA
HEARERNRASHE

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
BT _=%
BE —A—ARk=z
—EZHEF —E_[F
=A=+—-8B =ZA=+—H
ILFE LEEAR
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Revenue recognised that was RE/HOFARKNEERESRZ
included in the contact liabilities BRI :
balance at the beginning of the
year/period:
Sales of connectivity products HEZKE® 42,657 2,113
Provision of comprehensive EHEIEREERS
architectural services - 214
42,657 2,327
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 32. MITRHMER
2025 2024
—E_RE —EZOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
Bank borrowings RITHER 9,416 =
Other borrowings H A ER 9,737 2,220
19,153 2,220
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-OE
HK$’000 HK$°000
FETT FET
Analysed as: PRk
Unsecured E 19,153 2,220
2025 2024
—ECHF —ZEZmF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FETT FET
Carrying amounts repayable*: AR THHREEMNREE" :
On demand or within one year BERKIN—FR 14,873 2,220
After two years but within MEFRERLFNRN
five years 4,280 -
19,153 2,220
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32. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 32. SBITRHEMER &

2025 2024
—BC-REF “EoF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Amounts shown under current FIEREI B ES
liabilities 14,873 2,220
Amounts shown under non-current  FI{E3EREN B E 58
liabilities 4,280 -
19,153 2,220
2025 2024
—E-FHE —EOF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fixed-rate borrowings E BB 19,153 2,220
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also REERBTNERNE (TMERELDH
equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s E)EEFHNAT
borrowings are as follows:
2025 2024
—B-EHF —T-EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fixed-rate borrowings E BB 3.27%-12% 12%
The Group’s bank and other borrowings with carrying AEBRMEEA2,093,0008 T (=
amounts of HK$2,093,000 (2024: HK$1,681,000) and ~ P94 : 1,681,000/ 7t ) K 17,060,000
HK$17,060,000 (2024: HK$539,000) are denominated BT (ZZF M4 :539,000/8 L) B iR
in Hong Kong dollars and RMB, respectively. TREMERDRAETRARES|E-
At 31 March 2025, the bank borrowing of R_ZE-_RAF=ZA=Z+—8 "4
approximately HK$2,140,000 were jointly guaranteed 2,140, OOO/%TE B8R 1T 8 R B IE IR AR
by a non-controlling shareholder — Jian Jichuang BRELHTEICEEERFRL(BRERE)
Enterprise Management Center (Limited Partnership) &73—?3 MEBARREBERHTmE
and another subsidiary — Dongguan Glory Mark and PRA R HERER -

Asia Link Technology Co., Ltd..
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33. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

33. EZEBREEE

Amortisation

Fair value of intangibles
adjustments assets Total
ATFEAE BFREEHE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2023 RZTEZ=%—H—H - 445 445
Debited to asset BEEEGHHEENR

revaluation reserve 9,402 S 9,402
Credited to profit or loss T A18zk (#at14)

(note 14) (804) (247) (1,051)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR (#:£37)

(note 37) - (198) (198)
Exchange realignment P& 5 % (108) - (108)
At 31 March 2024 and RZZTZM4F

1 April 2024 —A=+—HBX

—ZET-MEMA—A 8,490 - 8,490
Credited to profit or loss &+ AB%5 (A72F14)

(note 14) (2,365) - (2,365)
Exchange realignment ME 5 58 & 47 - 47
At 31 March 2025 R-ZZE_AF

=A=+—H 6,172 - 6,172

At 31 March 2025, the Group does not recognise
deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses
of approximately HK$154,144,000 (2024:
HK$130,037,000) as it was uncertain that future
taxable profits against which the tax losses could
be utilised would be available in the relevant
tax jurisdiction. Tax losses of approximately
HK$65,734,000 (2024: HK$61,577,000) do not
expire under current tax legislation and approximately
HK$88,410,000 (2024: HK$68,460,000) would expire
within five years from the year of origination.

R-E-_HAF=A=+—8 Xx&EBI
5 R IE B 18 49154,144,00008 7T (=
T — P4 :130,037,000/8 7T ) R IE
EREEE RAAMTH T HEEMK
HRERERSEFEN B UK E
BEORRERBT EN - BRBEBRITH
% RIEE 1B 465,734,000 L (=&
Z 461,577,000/ 7T ) I K &
i #188,410,000 T (Z T 1 F:
68,460,000 L) B RNELEFE R R
FNEMm e
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34. SHARE CAPITAL 34. BAX
Number Share
of shares capital
R4 #E ;S
‘000 HK$’000
FH& FiET
Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each FREBE.OE Tz LR
Authorised: VETE
At 1 January 2023, 31 March 2024, EAf7 —=%—HA—8-
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 —-= fmi A=+—8"
ZEOFMNA—BR
—E-_RAF=ZA=1+—H 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITEHE:
At 1 January 2023, 31 March 2024, W-_Z-_=F—HF—H"
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 :Z@:Eifﬂ =+—8"
“E-NFNA—B K
—E_R¥=A=+—H 704,000 7,040
35. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS 35. RKREHAY
The Group as lessor AEEHBEEA
The Group leases out investment properties and AEEREBESEHELHIREMERE
buildings under operating leases. The leases typically F-HEMVBHR —RK 7%2i3¢ I
run for an initial period of 2-3 years, with an option AEEBEEZBHCREEAE
to renew the lease after that date at which time all FTIER T B B TH‘EEH?\A’*Q 2§3
terms are renegotiated. Lease payments are usually FREM—R - URBEMIZHES BEML
increased every 2-3 years to reflect market rentals. MEERETEHEEN K-
None of the leases includes variable lease payments.
Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable REEEHEERNTAIRELCERE
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be TH T AR BEIR M & 3008 1A R 2k Bi fE A
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows: AEBWRE FBWOT:
2025 2024
—E-HF —ZEEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
Within 1 year —F R 551 1,885
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMER - 720
551 2,605
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme and a retirement benefit scheme for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong and Taiwan,
respectively. The assets of the schemes are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the
control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% and 6%
of relevant payroll costs to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme and the defined contribution retirement
benefit scheme, respectively, in which contribution is
matched by employees.

Eligible staff of subsidiaries operating in the PRC
currently participate in a central pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to contribute
10% of the covered payroll of its employees to the
central pension scheme to fund the benefits. The
local municipal government undertakes to assume the
retirement benefit obligations of the eligible employees
of the PRC subsidiaries.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the total
contribution charged to consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
amounted to approximately HK$5,476,000
(period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024:
HK$10,917,000).

36.

RAKERGE

AEBORNAEERBEMBEARERE
B R R 51 AT & 51 8 R IKAE M E
B-%EHECEERARTAEHNZE
ERE BURAKEZEE-AKHE
HESEAANHIZEEEBEHFMNS%
K 6%F 58 Bl 14 A T8 & 5T & K E B AR
BB B

RPBEKEZMBARIZAEREERR
A2EMEMTRNERZTFRERE
AE-hEMBARARERFHAR
Z10%A P RBER R UIER
BRABHNABEZES ™R A
BERTEMNBARAEREBSRMIE
USEEIR

REBEE_ZE_AF=—A=+T—HLFE"
AR BREREM RS RNEAOH
B L) B5,476,0008 T (B2 ==
F—A—HEE-_ZS_MFE=A=+—
B IFHIf 10,917,000 7T) °
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37.

166

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

U]

(i)

In the current year

The Group had not any material disposal of
subsidiary during the year ended 31 March

2025.

In the prior year

37. HEKERXF

U]

(i)

rEE

REBNWHEE-_ST_HAE=A
T+ ALtFEEYEREIMNE

RSB AE -

BATE

Period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024

BE-Z =5 A-ARE-Z-_WNF=A=1+—HILEHH
State State
Innovation Venture Radiant
Group Group Assets Total
HERANEE FERAREE hedE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAETL FET FET
Net liabilities disposed of; ELERBEFE:

Property, plant and equipment ER S = = = =
Right-of-use assets TREEE = = S S
Other intangible asset Hitt®\EE = = = =
Goodwil B = S = S
Other receivables Hib R IR 5,957 1,587 - 7,494
Cash and cash equivalents RehERRLER 355 20,146 997 21,498
Other payables Hi AR (5,309) (3,819) (4,209) (13,337
Other borrowings HifEm (7,843) (19,035) = (26,878)
Lease liabilities HEaE (480) = = (480)
Deferred tax liabilities BIERERE = (198) = (198)
Non-controlling interests FiERER 2,196 (3,429) = (1,233)
Subtotal et (5,124) (4,798) (8,212) (13,134)
Translation reserve XA (58) (33) = (91

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & Il B2 &) 2 Y (A18)

(note 8) 5,182 4,831 3,212 13,225
Total consideration arf{E S = = S
Satisfied by: BATHALEE:

Cash Be - - - -
* The cash consideration for the disposal of State * B Fr #E B 7 25 (3] - T B K AE

Innovation Group, State Venture Group and Radiant

Assets was HK$1 each.
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DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is
as follows:

37. HEMBAT
BRAHENBRARIZEREeAERIRELE
B2 REFRBOoMEIOT

Period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024
B-E-_-F—f-BEE_Z-_ME-A=+—HILHH

State State
Innovation Venture Radiant
Group Group Assets Total
MEENEE NEEREE hedE @it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET

Cash consideration ReERE

Cash and bank balances disposed of HEMBAR 2R RIRTTES
subsidiaries

Net outflow of cash and cash BERLENBARIZHE R

equivalents in respect of disposal of ~ ERBREEH 2K FE
subsidiaries

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, other intangible asset and
goodwill

(355) (20,146) (997) (21,498)

(355) (20,146) (997) (21,498)

FEERBEZRE

Period from 1 January 2023 to 31 March 2024
B-E-_ZF—f-BRE-_S-_ME-A=+—HILHH

State State
Innovation Venture Radiant
Group Group Assets Total
MEENEE HEEREE heEE Mt

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THT THT TR

Property, plant and equipment mE - BEREE (HH18)
(note 18)

Right-of-use assets (note 19) FREERE (Mi219)

Other intangible asset (note 23) @M AR (Hi23)

Goodwill note 24) HE (Hit24)

1,059 1 - 1,060
301 - - 301
_ 791 - 791

- 550 - 550
1,360 1,342 - 2,702
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38.

168

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of trade
and other payables, contract liabilities, lease liabilities,
bank and other borrowings, net of cash and cash
equivalents, and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure periodically. As part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital
and risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the directors of the Company,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues
as well as issue of new debts.

China United Venture Investment Limited T E#HSIREGRE D T
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30. €@ IA
(a) Categories of financial instruments (@) =MIASE
2025 2024
—E-RE —E-MF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost 1% # 845k A< 51| {8 >
TREE
Trade receivables 2 5 ERERR 28,194 26,856
Other receivables H {th e UG BR 3R 36,754 43,319
Loan receivables JE U B 3R 689 699
Cash and cash equivalents BeERIIRSEER 26,306 75,195
91,945 146,069
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFAEBRZ
TEEE 2,094 3,893
94,039 149,962
Financial liabilities SRAaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost LA $pk N5t £ 8 & @b
afE
Trade and other payables B 5 N H BRI 52,411 63,346
Bank and other borrowings RIT R E MK 19,153 2,220
Lease liabilities HEBE 10,296 19,937
81,860 85,503

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loan
receivables, trade and other payables, bank and
other borrowings and lease liabilities. Details
of the financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments included market
risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(b)
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. @@MIAwm
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) <SEEREEEEREE®)
policies (Continued)
Market risk w5 m
Currency risk EE b

Several subsidiaries of the Company have
foreign currency sales and purchases, which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure should

170

the need arises.

AR a2 B KB R B ASH
BErEMHEERKE KMER
SBAZINER R

7N 5 B3R A2 I 4 BT 3L NS B R
Re-RM AEBEEEE-—EER
PE R E AN R R
T EHMERM

2025 2024
—E-HE —EF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET

Assets BE
USD (note) ETT (M) 2,613 3,475
RMB AR 189 202
2025 2024
—E__RE —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FAET

Liabilities g8&
USD (note) = (Krat) 65 65
RMB AR 12,526 11,720

Note: /Z/fﬁ’f{ .

Functional currencies of the respective subsidiaries are RMB/ HEMBARZINEEERARK /HiTe

HK$. Since HK$ is pegged to USD and immaterial monetary

items denominated in USD against the functional currency of

RMB, no sensitivity analysis is presented.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €®WIA
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and b) =2REBREEEEREE®)
policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued) mE R (&)
Currency risk (Continued) B b (&)
The following table details the Group’s TREFINARE .%T%ﬁﬁ,/\ﬁm
sensitivity to a 5% (2024: 5%) increase or AEHFZER (ZF W F:
decrease in USD against RMB. 5% (2024: 5%) 5% )M RE - ERBENHEE
is the sensitivity rate used by management AEMEREYRMANSRE
for the assessment of the reasonably possible LR B (ZE_HF  5%) °
change in foreign exchange rates. The BREREISMABRBERITERINEG
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding FTMEE®IER WE R KRIZE
foreign currency denominated monetary items EB5% (ZFE_MNF:5%)%8
and adjusts their translation at the period end HBREFTUAZ-UT (B
for a 5% (2024: 5%) change in the foreign EHRRBEREF ORD) 180
currency rates. A (negative)/positive number (ZZZWF - BEBR (D)
below indicates (a decrease)/an increase in Hhn) HAAERE B K48
post-tax profit (2024: (a decrease)/an increase BEBAES% (Z T @ F:
in post-tax loss) where the respective functional 5% ) o gt TT BB INE B E5%
currencies strengthen by 5% (2024: 5%) against (ZEZHE:5% )M 5 ' ¥ %
the relevant currency. For a 5% (2024: 5%) FMREMmEsEEREREERDN
weakening of US$ against the relevant foreign TE BUTHEBEREE
currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit and other equity and the
balances below would be negative.
Impact of RMB
ARBZHE
Period from
1 January
Year ended 2023
31 March to 31 March
2025 2024
BT =4
Bz *)EJ HieE
“EZRF —_E_mF
=A=+—-8B =A=+—H
LFE 1FHARS
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Impact on loss for the year/period ¥ & /HIREIBZ F & (463) (432)
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. £®IA

(b)

172 China United Venture Investment Limited $T## &SR EAR L 7

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the
management considers that the exposure
of cash flow interest rate risk arising from
fixed-rate other borrowings is insignificant,
accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is provided.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

The Group’s principal financial assets at
amortised costs are trade and other receivables,
loan receivables and cash and cash equivalents.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable
to its trade receivables, other receivables, loan
receivables and contract assets. The Group
is exposed to concentration of credit risk as a
substantial portion of its sales is generated from
a limited number of customers. At 31 March
2025, the top five customers of the Group
accounted for about 61.46% (2024: 66.57%)
of the Group’s trade receivables and contract
assets, all of which are engaged in business of
connectivity products with good reputation. In
order to minimise the credit risk, management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limit, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each debt on a collective
and on-going basis to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

TREAREEEERBER (4)

mEEEE (%)
T 2 7

BE_T-_RAFER-_ZT_NF=
A=+—HB EBEBRABETH
ERHEMEREENRSRINER
RN EE W EEERFEE S
e

ERER

RZE-_RAFR-_T-_WMF=A
=+ —H AEERERYEFH K
BOECMEASNBEXMBEERE
EAEERE  RREE TR
MNBERAFNSEEHREHEE
ZIRTEE -

AEBERBHKAGFEZTES
RMEERES REMBWERR
EUWERLRENERBRELER -

AEBZEEEREEREEE
SREBER - AR K - B
ERREHNEE-AREBKRI
DEETREBREBEZEF
MALEEBEAZEERRESY Z
BE-R—_E_RAF=A=+—
A A&EBAREFHAEEEZ
SEWBRZR N A KB ENG1.46%
T FE:66.57%)  HEY
NREEEEREL FERIT-5A
BEERRRAEEE AEEE
BEEREBRBEEEEREER
B EEEMREMERERMU
TR ERER R 7T B) U (B 380 B (B 75 ©
BN REEFEEBRFTTE
BHEZAWESEE UAERRLT
AkEEBEEHCHREBRE-
MHEME ARAREERAELNE
Bz EERBDAERIE-
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The management estimates the estimated loss
rates of loan receivables based on historical
credit loss experience of the debtors. Based on
assessment by the management, the loss given
default is low and the directors of the Company
considers the ECL for loan receivables is
adequate. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk
is significantly reduced.

For other receivables, the management of the
Group makes periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The
management believes that there is no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since
initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12-month ECL.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the
Group’s management applies a provision matrix
to calculate ECL, except in cases involving
debtors with significant outstanding balances or
those that are credit-impaired, which are subject
to individual assessment for ECL. The provision
rates under this matrix are determined based on
internal credit ratings, which categorize various
debtors into groupings that exhibit similar loss
patterns. Furthermore, the provision matrix is
formulated using the Group’s historical default
rates, while also incorporating forward-looking
information that is reasonable, supportable, and
obtainable without incurring undue costs or
effort.

39. £@IE®

(b)
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. £®IA

(b)

174 China United Venture Investment Limited $T## &SR EAR L 7

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is
limited because the counterparties are banks
with high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit rating agencies. The directors of the
Company considered the ECL on cash and
cash equivalents is insignificant and therefore
no loss allowance was recognised.

In order to minimise credit risk, the
management of the Group has tasked its
operation management committee to develop
and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading to
categorise exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by independent rating agencies where
available and, if not available, the operation
management committee uses other publicly
available financial information and the Group’s
own trading records to rate its major customers
and other debtors. The Group’s exposure
and the credit ratings of its counterparties are
continuously monitored and the aggregate value
of transactions concluded is spread amongst
approved counterparties.

(b)

TREAREEEERBER (#)

FEmE (&)

HRRGHF T REREEFNR
BEFELSREETRZRIT
HRENERBASEBZEER
RAER -ARAEERA BRER
FRREFENAREEERYL
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SRITA®

Financial risk management objectives and b) =2REBREEEEREE®)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmEE (&)
REBKEREERRTRIEZE
BRETISE:

The Group’s current credit risk grading
framework comprises the following categories:

Basis for
Category Description recognising ECL
BREABEE

]| ot EBIENEE

Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of 12-month ECL
default or has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition and that are not
credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

B %) RENRBRBREXEVIBALEERRITEEREZ 12AEHEEER
EMEVYEEERENeREE (BAFIER)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant Lifetime ECL — not
increase in credit risk since initial recognition but credit impaired
that are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 2)

75t REVIBRALEERREZENETREERNE EEERENFENRR
MERMEE (BRF2MEER) HEEER

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired Lifetime ECL — credit
when one or more events that have a detrimental impaired
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

E %) ERLGHIRMEEMARKRERBERTNY CELEGERENTEE
EN—BENZEFH AZEERTHAEERE HEHEEERE
(THREER)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

g ERBETEBAONRRENBERE MAEELE SHEME

B[R U3 SRR E AT B
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39.

176

(b)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €WMIA
Financial risk management objectives and (b) <SEEREEEEREE®)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EE R (&)
The table below details the credit risk exposures TRENAEEEBETEHREE
of the Group’s financial assets and contract EBEIMNeREERGNEE
assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: WIEERBREFS
Gross Net
Internal 12-month carrying Loss carrying
31 March 2025 Notes credit rating  or lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
12857 &S
“E-HEf=A=+-H W7 ABEETIR BHCEER BREE BERE BEEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Financial assets at
amortised cost
REHEASIEzERMEE
Trade receivables 27 Performing Lifetime ECL (not 27,669 (3,050) 24,619
credit impaired)
EU) LGS B4 FEBEHAEEERE
(BEEHE)
27 Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not 1,101 (379) 722
credit impaired)
[c2+ RERESESEEE
(mEERE)
27 Default Lifetime ECL (credit 16,541 (13,688) 2,853
impaired)
X FEBEHRESHE
(FERME)
Other receivables 27 Performing 12-month ECL 13,082 (121) 12,961
H At JE KRR B4 12 ABHEERE
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not 24,098 (305) 23,793
credit impaired)
3+ FEBEHESEHE
(REERE)
Loan receivables 25  Performing 12-month ECL 700 (11) 689
FEE B4 12 AHEERE
Cash and cash equivalents 29  Performing 12-month ECL 26,306 - 26,306
ReRERRLER B4 128 ARHEERR
109,497 (17,554) 91,943
Other items
HitE R
Contract assets 28 Performing Lifetime ECL (not 2,027 (30) 1,997

BHEE

B

credit impaired)
RENESEEEE
(BEEHE)
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. @@MIAwm
Financial risk management objectives and (b) =REBREEBEEREEW
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmEE (&)
Gross Net
Internal 12-month carrying Loss carrying
31 March 2024 Notes credit rating or lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
12 A FEH
“TZWE=R=+—H Wi RBEETR EHEEESR RERAE BREE REFE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000
FHET FHET FHET
Financial assets at
amortised cost
RBHAASIGEzEREE
Trade receivables 27 Performing Lifetime ECL (not 27,205 (448) 26,757
credit impaired)
EU) LGS B4 FEBEHEERHE
(BEEHE)
27 Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not 102 3) 99
credit impaired)
3+ FEREHEEBR
(BEEHE)
27 Default Lifetime ECL (credit 11,190 (11,190) -
impaired)
#H FEBBHEESR
(fEERHE)
Other receivables 27 Performing 12-month ECL 15,602 (187) 15,415
Hi YRR B4 12BARHEERE
27 Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not 28,844 (940) 27,904
credit impaired)
[e2+ FEHBHEESR
(BEERE)
Loan receivables 25 Performing 12-month ECL 715 (16) 699
B E R B4 12 ARHEERE
Cash and cash equivalents 29  Performing 12-month ECL 75,195 - 75,195
ReRERRLER B# 12EAEREERE
158,853 (12,784) 146,069
Other items
HiE B
Contract assets 28  Performing Lifetime ECL (not 4,588 (108) 4,485
credit impaired)
BHEE B4 FEREHEEBR
(BEEHAE)
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €®WIA®
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SEEREEBRZRBEEM
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EE R (&)
The following tables provide information about THREINEEALERE FEIW
the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECL for RRIEEaBEMERNEER
trade receivables according to their past due p RIBHEEBEER
dates:
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
mEFH
Trade receivables EZERER EHEBRE BEHEE BEEE REFE
% HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
% FET FET FET
As at 31 March 2025 R-BZEF
=ZA=t+-H
Not past due EaH 3.86% 11,522 (445) 11,077
Less than 31 days past due il a oy Ch I =! 15.06% 4,156 (626) 3,530
31-120 days past due BEA31E120H 16.50% 11,991 (1,979) 10,012
121-180 days past due BE121E1808 34.42% 1,101 (379) 722
Overdue 180 days BE180H 65.26% 8,213 (5,360) 2,853
36,983 (8,789) 28,194
On individually basis AR &% 100% 8,328 (8,328) -
45,311 (17,117) 28,194
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €®WIA
Financial risk management objectives and (b) =REBREEBEEREEW
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmEE (&)
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
Jilk: B
Trade receivables B HRKERR BHEEX BEREE BEEE REFE
% HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FHET FHET FET
As at 31 March 2024 R-T-mE
ZA=1+—H
Not past due & 1.70% 24,016 (409) 23,607
Less than 31 days past due i N = 1.16% 2,249 (26) 2,223
31-120 days past due #WE31E1208 1.38% 940 (13) 927
121-180 days past due BH1212180H 2.94% 102 () 99
Overdue 180 days #E180A 100% 2,826 (2,826) -
30,133 (3,277) 26,856
On individually basis AR &% 100% 8,364 (8,364) =
38,497 (11,641) 26,856
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €®WIA®
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) SEEREEBRZRBEEM
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EE R (&)
The Group recognised ECL for contract assets, N5 AR 4 B WOAR B R EBAE A AT
loan receivables and other receivables based BEHEWEE BRERKEAM
on the internal credit rating of receivables as WSRO TEREEEERR L
follows: ™
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
mEFH
Contract assets BNEE EHEBRE BEREE EBRRE REFE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FET FET
As at 31 March 2025 R-Z-h#F
=ZA=t+-H
Performing E# 1.48% 2,027 (30) 1,997
As at 31 March 2024 RZTZWF
=A=1+-H
Performing B# 2.24% 4,588 (103) 4,485
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
mE¥H
Loan receivables EREX AHERE BEREE BRER REFE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FHET FHET
As at 31 March 2025 R-BZh%
ZA=+-H
Performing BHY 1.57% 700 (11) 689
As at 31 March 2024 RZZ-ME
ZA=+—H
Performing BH 2.24% 715 (16) 699
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €WMIEA
Financial risk management objectives and b) =2REBREEEEREE®)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmEE (&)
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
mEFH
Other receivables Hi R BHEEE BEREE BRERE REFE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FET FHET
As at 31 March 2025 R-ZZ-h%
=ZA=+-H
Performing B4 0.92% 13,082 (121) 12,961
1.27% 24,098 (305) 23,793
1.15% 37,180 (426) 36,754
As at 31 March 2024 RZZ-ZME
=A=+—H
Performing BH 1.20% 15,602 (187) 15,415
Doubtful 7E2 74 3.26% 28,844 (940) 27,904
2.54% 44,446 (1,127) 43,319
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The following tables show the movement in
allowance for credit losses that has been
recognised for trade and other receivables
and contracts assets under the lifetime ECL or
12-month ECL.

eRIA®

(b) <EEMREEEEREE )

FEmE (&)

TR CREBEFENEBEER
BREI2EARMEEBERE
SREMEKRERERNEEE

Lifetime ECL
-not credit  Lifetime ECL -
impaired  credit-impaired

(simplified (simplified
approach) approach) Total
FEEE- FEEE-
EBEERHE FERE
Trade receivables B EBRR (B mE) (BAE) @t
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET
As at 1 January 2023 R-E-=%—HF—H 7,644 3,545 11,189
Allowance (reversed)/recognised in P83 (@) /HE R &
profit or loss B (7,186) 7,645 459
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBRA (7) - (7)
As at 31 March 2024 and RZE-ME=A=+—H
1 April 2024 EZT-mEMA—A 451 11,190 11,641
Allowance recognised in RIEEERREE
profit or loss 2,978 2,498 5,476
As at 31 March 2025 R-E-_1&=A=+—-H 3,429 13,688 17,117
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group writes off a trade receivable when
there is information indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the
debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when
the trade receivables are over two years past
due, whichever occurs earlier. The Group may
take legal action against the debtors to recover
the amount due.

39. €®WIA

(b)

TREREEEREREE (8)

EEmE (&)

EEENBEREHRARBAREY
IR 2 B I & B A A W @ 5K
HE (PINEBEADBRIEA
RERFF i E % &I a
HBEMFR UAREELEER
®) AEESMEEZ EEK
R AKEAHEHARBULE
T78) DAY = B BA TR IR

12-month

ECL

1218 A 78 18

Loan receivables EWRER EEEE

HK$°000

FET

As at 1 January 2023 R-_E-_=F—H—H 470

Allowance reversed in profit or loss 7 18 25 # 6] /O 5 5 (454)
As at 31 March 2024 and RZE-_MF=A=+—HK

1 April 2024 —E-UFEMEPA—H 16

Allowance reversed in profit or loss 1828 % [0 1) B 5 (5)

As at 31 March 2025 RZZE-_RAF=HA=+—H 11
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

EWMIA )

(b) <SEEREEEEREE®)

Credit risk (Continued) EE R (&)
Lifetime ECL
12-month (not credit
ECL impaired) Total
REBRES
128 B FEFR
Other receivables A JE R X FEEFR (BEEBHE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
As at 1 January 2023 R-_ZBE-=F—HF—H 613 - 613
Allowance (reversed)/recognised in RIS (E[E) /HRK
profit or loss BE (409) 940 531
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKBRF 17) = {7)
As at 31 March 2024 and RZZEZME=A=+—H
1 April 2024 F-E-mEMA—H 187 940 1,127
Allowance recognised/(reversed) in B HER, /(M) #
profit or loss B (66) (635) (701)
As at 31 March 2025 RZZEZRF=ZR=T—H 121 305 426
Lifetime ECL
(not credit
impaired)
GEMES
FEEER
Contract assets EHEE (BEERE)
HK$’000
FHET
As at 1 January 2023 RZZE-Z=%—HA—H 122
Allowance reversed in profit or loss 1828 % [0 1) B & (19)
As at 31 March 2024 and R-ZEBE-_NME=A=+—H8BEK
1 April 2024 —“E-NFEMPA—H 103
Allowance reversed in profit or loss 1878 & O #) B & (73)
As at 31 March 2025 RZE-_RAF=RA=+—H 30
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €®WIA
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b)) 2REAKEEEEREER®E)

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk REE2EE
The following table details the Group’s TRFAINAEHEFITEEZRAE
remaining contractual maturity for its non ZHBEHNBH ZRDBELAE
derivative financial liabilities. The table has been AFXfMz&EEHELHE
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash BEZARMBREREF/D -

flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to

pay.
Liquidity table B E T F
Weighted Within ~ More than ~ More than ~ More than
average oneyear 1yearbut 2yearshbut 5 yearsbut Total
effective oron lessthan  lessthan  less than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand 2 years 5 years 10 years cash flows amount

nEFYE  -Fag BB1F fibEpES BT KR

BRAZ REX  BOM2E  BHRSE BHMOE  RERAE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FEx TEn TEn FEx FEx TEn

Asat31March2025  R-Z-Hf

ZAZt-H
Non-derivative financial #fT£2@EE
liabilities
Trade and other payables EZREMENEFN  NATER 52,411 - - - 52,411 52,411
Bank and other borrowings 17 R E 4,73% 14,948 - 4,751 - 19,699 19,153
Lease liabilities HEBE 7.94% 3,862 4,315 2,927 2,050 13,154 10,296

71,221 4,315 7,678 2,050 85,264 81,860
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 39. €WMIA
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) <SEEREEEEREE®)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBELEE (%)
Liquidity table (Continued) HENELFK (&)
Weighted Within -~ Morethan ~ More than ~ More than
average oneyear  Tyearbut 2yearsbut 5 yearsbut Total
effective oron less than less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand 2 years 5 years 10 years cash flows amount

mEFE -FR% BRI BEAS HESF RER

ERAE BEX  BSRoFE BINSE BAMOFE  REREER FEE
% HKSO00  HKS000  HKSD00  HKS000  HKSUOD  HKSU00
% AT AT 7T TAT TEL TET

As at 31 March 2024 R-E-mE

=R=t+-H
Non-derivative financial SR EAE
liabilities

Trade and other payables  BZREMEMNER  NATEA 63,346 - - - 63,346 63,346

Bank and other borrowings 217 R E £ 3k 12% 2,220 - - - 2,220 2,220

Lease liabilities MEEE 3.83% 8,006 7,420 6,475 2,434 24,335 19,937

73,572 7,420 6,475 2,434 89,901 85,503
(¢) Fair value estimation (¢) AFEME

The different levels of fair value estimation have NFEBEFTOTRERRATHOT

been defined as follows:

o Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active o HREEXBERERMT
markers for identical assets or liabilities BZHME(KREHARE) (F
(level 1). — ) e

. Inputs other than quoted prices included . E— R 2 WE A
within level 1 that are observable for the MEEXBEBEZAIBERE
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as E(AER KHEEzE (B
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from BERGEH)BASE(EFZ
prices) (level 2). ) e

. Inputs for the asset or liability that are . I IE E P A BRI BB
not based on observable market data (BT E R ABE)N
(that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3). BEXBBEZHAZBE (F

=) -
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Fair value estimation (Continued)

The following table presents the Group’s

39. £@IE®

() 2DFEMF (5)

TRINTAKEBIZAFEFEN

financial assets that are measured at fair value: TRVEE:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-4 -t ] F=R @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
As at31 March 2025 R-ZE-Hf=F=1+-H
Assets BE
Financial assets at BRATEFABE EREE
FVTPL 2,094 - - 2,094
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—5% £ F=R Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Asat 31 March 2024 RZZE-_M&E=A=+—H
Assets BE
Financial assets at BAFESABH G REE
FVTPL 3,893 - - 3,893
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39.

188

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

a. Fair value of financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring
basis

The valuation techniques and inputs
used in the fair value measurements of
each financial instruments on a recurring
basis are set out below:

39.

@I A

() 2DFEMF (5)

a REEFEMEELZLFE
FTEZEMEEZ L FHE

RESEFUEEEAERS
BITEANAFEKAAN
B A R A BB
(I

Relationship
of key inputs

Significant and significant
Financial Fair value Valuation technique  unobservable unobservable
instruments hierarchy Fair value as at and key inputs inputs Range inputs to fair value
BRAAUEREX
HEFER EXTUER TABRBAYE
SRIA AYPESER RUTRENATE BRI AHE BAHE #E BATENBE
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
“E-RE —E-F
=A =A
=t-B =t-H
HK$'000  HK$000
TET TET
Listed equity securities ~ Level 1 2,094 3,893 Quoted bid pricesinan  N/A N/A N/A
active market
TARAES £ ERTSMBEAE  THA TEA  TEA
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued)

a.

Fair value of financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements of financial assets are as
follows:

39. €®WIA

() AV EME (4

As at 1 January 2023
Change in fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL (note 13)

As at 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and
31 March 2025

a. REBELEZMEERZ LD FE
FTEZEHEEZAFE
(#&)
TMEEF RN FER
ENHERAT:
Unlisted
investments
FLEHmEE
HK$'000
FET
R-F-_=F—A—H 47
BAFEFAERZEREE
ZRNFEREE (HiE13) (47)

R-_ZE-_WNE=A=+—8"
—E-UFERMA—B K
—E-FHF=A=1+—H -
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 40.
BALANCES

During the year/period, the Group entered into the
following transactions with related parties:

BAE D R 7 R A ER

FARRN AEE S EBBTETTI

%%

Period from

Year ended 1 January 2023

31 March to 31 March

Name Nature of transactions 2025 2024

BE-ZE-=F

BE —HA—RAge=s

—EC-HE —EF

=A=t—R =A=+—H

8 XEHE LEE LEEAFE

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

PT Shenzhen (nhote a) Rental paid by the Group - 260
wERY (K ita) KEEENES

Goldstone (note b)
&4 (#faEb)
Mr. Huang Bin (a former director)

(note c)
=WAEAE (RIES) (Hite)

The following balances were outstanding at the end of

the reporting year/period:

Name

=1

Interest expense paid by
the Group = 264
REBBENFERAX

Reimbursement of expenses by
former director to the Group -

MEFRAAKEHERNS

7,216

W& BRI T A 8B R 8

Amounts due to
related parties

FEf ER s 5 TR IE
Nature of transactions 2025 2024
REHE —E-RE —E-puE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET

PT Shenzhen (note a)
BRI (Kiita)

PT Shenzhen (note a)
BRI (Kiita)

Cost of service rendered paid
by the Group (734) (738)
REEDMRERB KR

Rental paid by the Group (590) (359)
XEBEMNHES
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 40.
BALANCES (Continued)

Notes:

(@) Mr. Wang Li Feng, a director and a shareholder of the
Company has an indirect equity interest of 23.07% (2024:
23.07%) in PT Shenzhen.

(b) Goldstone is indirectly owned as to 60% by Mr. Huang Bin,
the former non-executive Director of the Company; and (ii)
indirectly owned as to 40% by CIAM. CIAM is a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and is a non
wholly-owned subsidiary of CIFH. CIAM is principally engaged
in equity investment and asset management. The principal
was lent before the year and repayment was made within 12
months.

(c) Mr. Huang Bin being the former director of the Company who
resigned on 13 March 2024 and Mr. Ni Xian, being the former
director of the Company who resigned on 30 May 2024.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and
other members of key management during the year/
period was as follows:

AR S RESR (5

Byat -

(@) RAFEERBKETEESERAEF
G B R ERE23.07% (ZF — M4
23.07%) °

(b) EOMARBAFRTEETRBEERE
EEOO%EL ()P EEREEEERR
ERAIONEDE - TEEREEERER M
REBEMAINERIF RATEEE
CREBRNIEZENBRAT -PEEREE
ERITBENERERERBEEER AT
REFIELE BEM2EARNEE-

© BRELE(ARAREE R-F_MNFE=
AT=ZB8E) RRZAE (ARBRES
R-ZB_NFRA=1+HEE) -

BREEAEHMH

ARRAEZLRHREREEAMRER
F/BMANHEMMOT

Period from
Year ended 1 January 2023
31 March to 31 March

2025 2024

BT _=4%F

BE —F—B#E=E

—EB-HE —E-mF

=B=+-8B =A=+—H

HEE 1FHAR

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Fees, salaries and allowances W FHEKER 3,607 7,493
Contribution to retirement benefit RIREFIFT B R

scheme 18 52

3,625 7,545
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 41. KMBRARFHE
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at RZE-_RAFER-_E-_NF=ZA=+—
31 March 2025 and 2024 are as follows: AR Bl EEMBRARGFBNOT:
Place/country
of incorporation/ Paid up issued Percentage of nominal value
Form of business  registration/ and share capital/ of issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary structure operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
FMERL/ R/ BRORAR FRRMEZERT
WEAREH E3 23 5 EENYER BA/ERER REEE/EMERLH TEEH
Direct Indirect
B Gk
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2025 2024 2025 2024
“ECRE -ECME ZE-RE -EoNE
=R =R =R =A

=t-A =+-B =t-B =+-H

Glory Mark International  Limited liability British Virgin Islands/ USD50,000 100% 100% - - Investment holding
(Holding) Limited company Hong Kong

BEER (RE)ER  AREELA KEGERES/ 50,000% 7 REBZR
7] £

Asia-Link Technology Limited liability Samoa/Taiwan USD50,000 - - 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity
Limited company products mainly

for computers and

peripheral products
SHBRERAR BREELA BET/0E 50,000% T BETERNEMEAR

REERENER

Glory Mark Electronic Limited liability Samoa/Taiwan USD50,000 - - 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity
Limited company products mainly
for computers and
peripheral products

BRETARLA BREELA BET /48 50,000% 7T EEIZANEHLAR
REERIESER
Glory Mark Electronic Limited liability British Virgin Islands/ USD50,000 - - 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity
Limited (note &) company Taiwan products mainly

for computers and
peripheral products
BEEFERAF BREERA EREARES/ 50,000% 7T EETEANEHRAR
(Hita) =) REERENER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 41. HMBRAFHE @)
Place/country
of incorporation/ Paid up issued Percentage of nominal value
Form of business  registration/ and share capital/ of issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary structure operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
ERL/ R BRORAR FRRMEZERAT
WEAREH E3 23 5 EENYER BA/ERER REEE/ERERLH TEEH
Direct Indirect
HE Gk

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2025 2024 2025 2024
—E-HE -—ZToME ZB-HE —ToME
=R =R =A =A
=+-8 Z+-B =+-B Z=t+-AH

Glory Mark Electronic Branch Taiwan N/A - - 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity
Limited products mainly
for computers and
peripheral products

BRETHERAR NG AE TEm EEIZANEHLAR
REERIESER

Asia-Link Technology Limited liability British Virgin Islands/ USD50,000 - - 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity

Limited company Taiwan products mainly
for computers and
peripheral products in
the USA, investment
holding

SHNRBRAT BREERA ERABREE/ 50,000% 70 EXHEETEANER

aE RERRBERER
EmRRERR

Asia-Link (Jiangxi) Limited liability PRC USD3,150,000 - = 100% 100%  Manufacture of
Electronic Limited company connectivity products
(Formerly known as mainly for computers
Asia-Link (Fogang) and peripheral products
Electronic Limited)

SHOIE)ETER  BAREMRA B 3,150,000% 70 HETERNENRAE
DA (AR (FE) REERENER
EFARRAA)

Glory Mark Electronic Limited liability Hong Kong HKD100,000 - - 100% 100%  Trading of connectivity
Limited company products mainly

for computers and
peripheral products

BEEFERAR AREERH &k 100,000 7¢ BEELEMNERREE

REERIENER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

41.

194

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Form of business

Place/country
of incorporation/
registration/

Paid up issued
and share capital/

41.

Percentage of nominal value

il PN

&)

of issued share capital/registered capital

Name of subsidiary structure operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
EMRL/ RS BRORMR ARAfGZERT
WEARER EBERER EERY R BE/ZRER RAEE/ SRERLA TEXE
Direct Indirect
HE GE:3
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2025 2024 2025 2024
ZE-RE -ET-NE CZBCEHfE -—EoNE
=B =A =h =A
=+-8 Z+-B =+-B Z=t+-AH
Glory Mark Technology ~ Limited liability Samoa USD50,000 - - 100% 100%  Manufacture of
Limited company connectivity products
mainly for computers
and peripheral products
BENRERAR BREELA 7 {3 50,000% 7 RETEANERLAR
REERZENER
Dongguan Glory Limited liability PRC HK$43,820,722 - S 100% 100%  Manufacture of
Mark and Asia Link company connectivity products
Technology Co., Ltd mainly for computers
and peripheral products
REBRTBRNER BRALLA FE 43,820,722/t HETERANEMRAR
A REERZIENER
Shenzhen Glory Mark and  Limited liability PRC RMB1,000,000 - - 100% 100%  Manufacture of
Asia Link Electronic company connectivity products
Co., Ltd. mainly for computers
and peripheral products
RYBETHEFER BRELLA HE AR 11,000,0007 HETEANEMRAR
NS REERENER
Shenzhen Shufen Limited liability PRC RMB1,500,000 - - 100% 100%  Manufacture of
Technology Co., Ltd. company connectivity products
mainly for computers
and peripheral products
RYNERRHERDA  AREERA e AR 1,500,007 HETZRRENREE
REERENER
Jiangxi Brilliant Limited liability PRC RMB100,000 - - 92% 80%  Manufacture of
Electronics Co., Ltd. company connectivity products
mainly for computers
and peripheral products
IEBEETERLA  ARELRA P AR#100,0007 RETZRARENREE
REERZENER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

41. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 41. HMBRAFHE @)
Place/country
of incorporation/ Paid up issued Percentage of nominal value
Form of business  registration/ and share capital/ of issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary structure operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
ERL/ R BRORAR FRRMEZERAT
WEAREH E3 23 5 EENYER BA/ERER REEE/ERERLH TEEH
Direct Indirect
HE Gk

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2025 2024 2025 2024
ZBCEE -T-ME ZBCEE -EZONF
=B =A =8 =R
=+-8 Z+-B =+-B Z=t+-AH

PT Design (QH) Limited ~ Limited liability PRC - - - 100% 100%  Provision of
company comprehensive
architectural service
AgRRR CR) BREFAR el - RUEZARERY
BRAH

Notes: iz -

(a) The subsidiary had established a branch, namely Glory Mark (a) EAGEE NGNS é.‘ B — B AR BEE
Electronic Limited — Taiwan Branch (the “GME Branch”) in BETERARAES DA ([BEEFHAQ
Taiwan. The GME Branch is engaged in trading of connectivity Al -1Ee 3-5?’;7 NRINREBEEETZAR
products mainly for computers and peripheral products. EMMAEARBERCERESR

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities REEKFAETMER BEHRNBRF

at the end of the year or at any time during the year. BITAMEBES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE
42, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 42. ZARQRHERREK
THE COMPANY

ARNBRIR_E-_AFR-_ZE-_NFE=A
—+—HHBHBERNT:

The financial information of the Company as at 31
March 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

2025 2024
—E-RHE —E-NE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bz FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSET kRBEE
Unlisted investments in KRB ARIMIELMRE
subsidiaries a 34,045 34,045
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other receivables H {th i U BR 3R 601 12,194
Amount due from a joint venture W —E& B ERE b 51 21
Amounts due from subsidiaries ~ FEUHI B A 73K IE b 44,772 43,713
Cash and cash equivalent RekERBLIER 290 6,015
45,714 61,943
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables H b FE A BR5X 10,466 11,433
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAS BT B 2 B3k I8 b 75,457 81,938
Bank and other borrowings RIT R H MK 2,093 1,681
88,016 95,052
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEETEHE (42,302) (33,109)
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (BERH) BEFE (8,257) 936
CAPITAL AND RESERVE BARFE
Share capital fi& A 7,040 7,040
Reserves @& % (15,297) (6,104)
TOTAL EQUITY XA (8,257) 936
Wang Li Feng Fan Xiaoling
T BNES
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
- EZE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 42. ZARQTBBERREK (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Investments in subsidiaries (@ RHEBARNRKRE
As at 31 March 2025, investments RZE_RAF=ZRA=+—H"
in subsidiaries are carried at cost of KW B RAMNEKEERKAR
HK$34,510,000 (2024: HK$34,510,000). No 34,510,000 T AR (=ZZE - M@
impairment losses during the year ended 31 F :34,510,0008 L)  HE-T
March 2025 (2024: HK$465,000). THFE=ZA=1+T—HBLEE I

ERAREEBSE (T _WF:
465,000/ 7T) °

(b)  The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free (b) ZERBEEERF 2BERERE
and repayable on demand. SKEFE R o
()  Movements in the Company’s reserves are as () AREFEBENEHNT:
follows:
Retained
profits/
Share (Accumulated Total
premium losses) reserves
REER
R EE (R5TE#R) e
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET
At 1 January 2023 RZE-_=%—F—H 5,438 4,318 9,756
Loss and total comprehensive HANBERZEARLERE
expense for the period - (15,860) (15,860)

At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-E-N&E=A=+—H

EZF-MFEMA—H 5,438 (11,542) (6,104)

Loss and total comprehensive FRNEERZARYEE
expense for the year - (9,193) (9,193)
As at 31 March 2025 RZE-_R%=ZRA=+—H 5,438 (20,735) (15,297)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HZE T _HAF=A=+—HILFE

43.

198

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 43.

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

METHELEEEHR

Amount due Bank and other Lease
to a director borrowings liabilities Total
Eft—% BITR
EEHA HiER HERE wst
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
FHET FET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2023 R-E-=%—F—H 210 80,240 19,741 100,191
Changes from financing cash flows: BER £ HELZE:
New bank and other borrowings nEE I RIREMD
raised fiE % - 20,931 - 20,931
Interest paid for bank and other BERBEAREMER
borrowings ME - (2,196) - (2,196)
Repayment of principal portion of 7T RAMERKE
bank and other borrowings BrER - (72,598) - (72,598)
Repayment of principal portion of ~ HE&EAEHH
lease liabilities B - - (8,526) (8,526)
Advance from a director —REFHH 5,180 = = 5,180
Interest paid for leases ERBENS - - (2,160) (2,160)
5,180 (53,863) (10,686) (59,369)
Other changes: HinB8:
Interest on bank and other RITREAMEHHE
borrowings - 2,721 - 2,721
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE - - 2,160 2,160
Disposal of subsidiaries fnote 3§)  HEMB R A
(H1i£38) - (26,878) (480) (27,358)
Termination of lease RIFAE - - (1,821) (1,821)
New lease recognised (note 19) BEAHEE
(Hit19) - - 11,498 11,498
Exchange realignment AR - - (475) (475)
As at 31 March 2024 R-Z_mEF
=A=1+-H 5,390 2,220 19,937 27,547
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mEMB|RHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #iZ T -_HAF=A=+—HILFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 43.
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued)

METHELEBHE (9

Amount due  Bank and other Lease
to a director borrowings liabilities Total
Ef—% BAR
EENE Hit g HEEE @t
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FET FET
At 1 April 2024 RZE-MEMA—H 5,390 2,220 19,937 27,547
Changes from financing cash flows: FER&TEZE:
New bank and other borrowings nEE I ROREM
raised fiE % - 19,039 - 19,039
Interest paid for bank and other BRBAREMER
borrowings HE - (170) - (170)
Repayment of principal portion of /7R AMERKE
bank and other borrowings BrER - (2,374) - (2,374)
Repayment of principal portion of ~ HE&EAEHH
lease liabilities B - - (2,683) (2,683)
Repayment to a director M-HEFEN (515) - - (515)
Interest paid for leases ERBENE - - (708) (708)
(515) 16,495 (3,391) 12,589
Other changes: Hin88:
Interest on bank and other BRITREAMERHE
borrowings - 582 - 582
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE - - 1,080 1,080
Termination of lease RIEHEE - - (9,359) (9,359)
New lease recognised (note 19) BEAHEE
(Hit19) - - 2,097 2,097
Exchange realignment AR - (144) 68) (212)
At 31 March 2025 R-Z_h¥
=A=+-H 4,875 19,153 10,296 34,324
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mEMBHRHE

For the year ended 31 March 2025 i ZE T -_HAF =A=+—HILFE

44, MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 4., FEFBEEXRSH
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group BHE-_T_hF=-A=+—RHILEFE"
entered into new lease agreements in respect of REEREFIUHEERZE - RNEE
buildings. On the lease commencement, the Group MG ANEBEERER A FE A E
recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in EENMNEEBE 42,097,000 (ZZ
the same amount of approximately HK$2,097,000 ZPO4 11,498,000/ 7T) °

(2024: HK$11,498,000).

45. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 45. #EMBHSE

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and MBERER_T_AF~A=THEE
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 EefEREERE-

June 2025.
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